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Board of directors 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
Belinda Mapongwana (50) 

Bachelor of Social Science (UCT), Bachelor of Laws (UCT), Master of Laws (International Business Law) (Vrije Universiteit, 
Amsterdam), Postgraduate Certificate in Compliance Management (UCT) 

 
 
Independent Non-executive Director (Appointed: 22 June 2020; Appointed as Independent Non-executive Chairperson on 
16 September 2020) 

Member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (Appointed: 9 April 2021) 

Belinda is an admitted attorney with over 18 years post-admission experience. She specialises in all aspects of mergers and 
acquisition transactions, corporate commercial law, commercial litigation, compliance, risk and governance. She spent some 
time in New York where she worked on several mergers and acquisitions, private equity and structured finance transactions. 
Belinda has experience in compliance and risk management having worked in investment banks in Johannesburg, New York, 
and London. 

Belinda is the founder of Mapongwana Attorneys Inc. a 100% black woman-owned boutique law firm that offers specialist legal 
services in mergers and acquisitions, corporate commercial law and commercial litigation. Belinda is a non-executive director 
of TUHF Holdings Limited, TUHF Limited, TUHF Equity (Proprietary)Limited, TUHF21 NPC, TUHF Services (Proprietary) 
Limited, uMastandi (Proprietary) Limited and Greywoods Harvests (Proprietary) Limited. She is a member of the UCT Law 
Endowment Fund Advisory Board, a member of the Board of Governors of Hilton College and a Trustee of Khazimla Education 
Trust. 

 

Sindisiwe N Mabaso-Koyana (54) 

CA(SA), B Comm (Natal), Post Graduate Diploma in Accounting (Natal) 

Non-executive Director (Appointed: 6 June 2017; Repositioned as Independent Non-executive Chairperson on 16 September 
2020) 

 
 

Sindi is currently the Managing Partner of AIH Capital and Chairperson of African Women Chartered Accountants (AWCA) 
Investment Holding Company. She is the co-founder member and former President of the African Women of Chartered 
Accountants. Her other board positions include that of a non-executive director for MTN Group Limited, Bidvest Limited and Sun 
International Limited. 

Sindi is a Chartered Accountant by profession with experience in financial management, auditing and governance in both the 
public and private sector. She is a renowned leader and champion in growth and development of young women. 

 

 
Edward Pitsi (40) 

CA(SA), Masters in Finance (University of Pretoria), EMBA (INSEAD) 

Independent Non-executive Director (Appointed: 22 June 2020) 

Member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (Appointed: 16 September 2020) 
 
 

Edward is currently CEO of Infinite Partners Proprietary Limited and a non-executive director of, Autozone Holdings Proprietary 
Limited, Barron Proprietary Limited, Synerlytic Holdings Proprietary Limited, and Crossfin Technology Holdings Proprietary 
Limited. 

Through a sub-advisory agreement, Infinite Partners, manages Ethos Mid-Market Fund which holds 4.05% of the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi issued ordinary share capital. Prior to his 12-year private equity career (both at Infinite Partners and Ethos Private Equity), 
he worked in the Acquisition and Leveraged Finance team at Barclays Africa Group after completing his articles at Price 
Waterhouse Coopers. He has investment experience across various sectors including but not limited to Testing Inspecting and 
Certifications, Technology and Connectivity, Automotive, Industrials and Business Services. 
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Board of directors 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
Grant Gelink (73) 

CA(SA), BComm, BCompt (Hons) 
 
 

Independent Non-executive Director (Appointed: 9 June 2017) 

Chairman of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (Appointed: 9 June 2017) 
 
 

Grant is a non-executive director of FirstRand Limited, Grindrod Limited, Allied Electronics Limited and Rain Group Holdings 
Proprietary Limited. 

He was the chief executive of Deloitte & Touche from 2006 to 2012. His vast experience at Deloitte spans over 26 years and 
includes being Lead Client Service Partner across a number of different industries servicing clients such as Barloworld Limited, 
Imperial Holdings Limited, Murray & Roberts Limited, Nedbank Limited, Sappi Limited, South African Airways Limited and Transnet 
SOC Limited. 
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Chairperson’s report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
Introduction 

In 2016 MTN Group Limited (MTN Group) set up MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited (MTN Zakhele Futhi or the Company), a vehicle 
for qualifying black South Africans to invest in MTN Group, a leading emerging markets telecoms service provider. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi has an approximate 4% shareholding in MTN Group. This investment is the Company’s only material asset. 
The Company also administers the associated funding of this investment – being the preference shares subscribed for by third 
party debt providers and a notional vendor finance facility obtained from MTN Group. 

On 25 November 2019, MTN Zakhele Futhi listed on the Black Economic Empowerment Segment of the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange marking the end of the “Minimum Investment Period”. The listing provides shareholders with the ability to trade their 
shares between qualifying black people and black groups on the open market during the remaining Empowerment Period (which 
ends on 22 November 2024). 

80.6% of the shareholders subscribed for fewer than 500 ordinary shares showing the true broad-based nature of the scheme. 
 
 

Impact of Global Economic Environment 

On 12 March 2021, the MTN Group board suspended its dividend policy and communicated a revised medium-term dividend 
policy when it announced its 2021 results in March 2022. As MTN Zakhele Futhi’s only material investment and asset consists of 
shares in MTN Group (MTN Group Shares), the Company is entirely dependent on the receipt of dividends from the MTN Group 
Shares. The suspension and revision of MTN Group’s dividend policy has therefore had a significant impact on the ability of MTN 
Zakhele Futhi to continue as a going concern. 

We would like to thank MTN Group and MTN Holdings for their ongoing commitment to and support of MTN Zakhele Futhi and its 
shareholders. 

The amounts provided by MTN Holdings Limited (MTN Holdings) to address the liquidity issues faced by MTN Zakhele Futhi 
negatively impacted the gearing in the Company due to the interest-bearing nature of all funding provided by MTN Holdings. The 
MTN Zakhele Futhi board will continue with their efforts to protect the investment made by its shareholders. 

 
 

Unwind 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is scheduled to unwind in accordance with its terms on the 22 November 2024. This is in line with the 
transactional documents which govern the scheme. 
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Chairperson’s report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
Financial performance 

The Company’s financial performance is based entirely on the MTN Group share price and any dividend declared and received 
from MTN Group during the year. 

At 31 December 2023, the Company recognised a loss after taxation of R737,2 million (2022: loss after taxation of R973,5 million). 
The loss is attributable to the loss on the re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument. The loss on the re-measurement 
of the derivative financial instrument is largely due to the significant decrease in the MTN Group share price from R127,30 at 
31 December 2022 to R115,50 at 31 December 2023. 

The decrease in the MTN Group share price since the prior financial year also resulted in a fair value loss of R603,2 million (2022: 
R2 218,9 million loss) being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
 

Shareholder support (IMPORTANT) 

Effective and efficient shareholder communication is essential to ensure that shareholders are kept up to date. The Company will 
continue to use SMS communication as its main means of communication. Notices of the Annual General Meeting (AGM) are 
being sent by email, SMS or post to all registered shareholders. To enable MTN Zakhele Futhi to effectively communicate with 
shareholders and maintain up to date records, shareholders are requested to notify the MTN Zakhele Futhi of all changes to their 
SMS contact details, postal address, status and banking details. 

Shareholders, even those not wishing to trade their MTN Zakhele Futhi shares, are requested to register their share custodial and 
trading accounts and can elect to use either the facilitated stockbroker or an independent stockbroker. No shares may be bought 
or sold without a share trading account, so you are encouraged to do this well before the scheme ends. 

We draw your attention to the fact that the process to replace Nedgroup Private Wealth as the trading and custody service provider 
for MTN Zakhele Futhi is advanced, and shareholders will be informed once the process is finalised. Shareholders will be provided 
with clear instructions on what steps to take via sms, email, the MTN Zakhele Futhi website and a Stock Exchange News Service 
of the JSE Limited announcement. 

Please visit the MTN Zakhele Futhi website on www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za for details on how to register your share custodial 
and trading account, or how to submit your data changes. 

Shareholders are encouraged to familiarise themselves with the information published from time to time on the MTN Zakhele Futhi 
website and we once again encourage all our shareholders to make sound investment decisions when electing to sell, hold or buy 
their MTN Zakhele Futhi shares in order to maximise the true value of their investment. 

 
Prospects 

Due to the nature and purpose of MTN Zakhele Futhi, its prospects are aligned with the prospects of the MTN Group. The MTN 
Zakhele Futhi board will continue with their efforts to provide support and value to its shareholders. 

 
 

Annual General Meeting 

Given the wider potential reach of a virtual AGM and lower costs thereof, the Company will once again hold its AGM through 
electronic means and shareholders will not be able to attend this meeting in person. 

 
We would like to encourage shareholders to attend the annual general meeting to be held virtually. Further details of the time, 
date and venue are contained on pages 54 to 66 in the notice of AGM. 
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Chairperson’s report

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Appreciation

I would like to thank my fellow board members, all our stakeholders and partners for their commitment and support to ensure that 
MTN Zakhele Futhi is a valuable investment for its shareholders.

In particular, I would also like to thank MTN Group for the valuable support we received.

Belinda Mapongwana

Chairperson

8 March 2024
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Audit, risk & compliance committee report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
The MTN Zakhele Futhi audit, risk and compliance committee (the committee) presents its report in terms of section 94(7)(f) of 
the Companies Acts and as recommended by King IV in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2023 

Membership and meeting attendance 

The Company constituted the audit, risk and compliance committee on 15 November 2016. Members of the committee are formally 
nominated by the board and ratified by the shareholders at the next annual general meeting. Members of the audit, risk and 
compliance committee were all independent non-executive directors of the Company. The composition of the committee and the 
attendance at meetings by its members are set out below: 

 

Members Attendance 

Grant Gelink 3/3 

Edward Pitsi 3/3 

Belinda Mapongwana 3/3 

Meeting attendance is for standard and ad-hoc meetings during the year. 

Biographical details of members at 31 December 2023 are set out on pages 2 to 3 of this annual report. 

The external auditors attend all audit, risk and compliance committee meetings. The committee meets at least twice a year. 

The committee is satisfied that the members thereof have the required knowledge and experience as set out in Section 94(5) of 
the Companies Act and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011. Although Belinda Mapongwana also holds the position 
as Chairperson of the Board, the Committee believes that she meets the independence criteria as set out in the Companies Act 
and will be able to effectively discharge her duties. The effectiveness of the committee as a whole and its individual members are 
assessed on an annual basis. 

The audit, risk and compliance committee perform the duties laid upon it by section 94(7) of the Companies Act, by holding 
meetings with the key role-players on a regular basis and by the unrestricted access granted to the external auditors. 

Independence of the external auditor 

The Company’s external auditor is SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc. The fee paid to the auditor for the year under 
review is disclosed in note 13 to the annual financial statements. 

The committee satisfied itself through enquiry that the external auditor is independent, as defined by the Companies Act and as 
per the standards stipulated by the auditing profession. Requisite assurance was sought and provided by the Companies Act that 
internal governance processes within the firm support and demonstrate the claim to independence. 

The audit, risk and compliance committee agreed to the terms of the engagement. The audit fee for the external audit has been 
considered and approved, taking into consideration such factors as the timing of the audit, the extent of the work required and the 
scope. 

Expertise and experience of finance function 

The committee satisfied itself that the composition, experience and skills set in the finance function meets the Company’s 
requirements. 

The administration of the Company’s statutory records and accounting is outsourced to Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share 
Scheme Administration Division. 

 
The authority and responsibility for all management decisions lies with the board of directors. 

Execution of functions of the audit risk and compliance committee 

The committee is satisfied that, in respect of the financial year under review, it has discharged its duties and responsibilities in 
accordance with its terms of reference and in terms of the Companies Act. 

The committee performed the following activities during the year under review: 
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Audit, risk & compliance committee report

For the year ended 31 December 2023

reviewed the reports of the external auditors regarding their audit and where necessary requested appropriate responses 
from the service providers appointed by the board of directors;

reviewed and approved the policy for non-audit services that may be provided by the external auditors. This policy sets 
out those services that may be provided by the external auditors and the required authorisation process;

approved the non-audit related services, where applicable, performed by the external auditors during the year in 
accordance with the policy established and approved by the board;

approved the fees and engagement terms of the external auditors for the 2023 audit;

considered the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and ensured that the scope of additional services 
provided did not impair their independence;

recommended the external auditors for reappointment; and

reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the organisation’s annual financial statements.

After assessing the requirements set out in section 94(8)(a)-(c) of the Companies Act, the committee is satisfied with the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

Following the review by the committee of the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 
and based on the information provided to it, the committee considers that, in all material respects, the Company complies with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, International Financial Reporting Standards and the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited 
relating to Asset Backed Securities and that the accounting policies applied are appropriate and consistent. The committee 
recommended the Company’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 for approval by the board on [8] 
March 2024.

The committee concurs with the board of directors that the adoption of the liquidation basis in preparation of the annual financial 
statements, is appropriate, as the scheme is scheduled to unwind on 22 November 2024.

Grant Gelink

Chairperson: Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee

8 March 2024
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval

For the year ended 31 December 2023

The board of directors are required in terms of the South African Companies Act to maintain adequate accounting records and 
are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this 
report. The annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited relating to Asset Backed Securities. The external auditor is engaged to express 
an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The board of directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the Company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the Company and all employees of Nedbank Limited, in its capacity as the administrator of the Company, are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the Company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.

The board of directors are responsible for the Company’s system of internal control and are of the opinion that the systems of 
internal control provide reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The liquidation basis has been adopted in preparing the Company’s annual financial statements. The board of directors have 
reviewed the Company’s cash flow forecast for the 12-month period to 31 December 2024 and, in light of this review and the 
current financial position, they are satisfied that the Company has access to adequate resources to continue until the unwind 
which is scheduled on the 22 November 2024.

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Company's annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined by the Company's external auditor and their report is presented on pages 15 to 
18.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 19 to 52, were approved by the board on 8 March 2024 and were signed on 
their behalf by:

Belinda Mapongwana Grant Gelink

Chairperson: Board of Directors Chairperson: Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee

8 March 2024 8 March 2024
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Company secretary’s certification

For the year ended 31 December 2023

We certify that to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission, all such returns and notices required of a public company in terms of section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act, No 71 
of 2008, as amended, in respect of the period ended 31 December 2023 and that such returns and notices are, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

Nedbank Limited

Company Secretary

8 March 2024
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Director’s report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
The board of directors have pleasure in presenting their report, for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

 
MTN Zakhele Futhi is a special purpose company which only has non-executive directors and does not employ any employees. 
The Company has engaged various service providers with the necessary expertise and experience to provide all services required 
by MTN Zakhele Futhi to effectively carry out its functions and activities. The board of directors retain full authority and 
responsibility for all management decisions taken and carried out by its service providers. 

The MTN Zakhele Futhi board recognises that, at the core of MTN Zakhele Futhi’s corporate governance system, it is ultimately 
responsible and accountable for the performance and affairs of the Company. The board embraces the principles of good 
corporate governance as set out in the guidelines of the Code of Good Governance Principles for South Africa as laid out in the 
King Report on Corporate Governance. As required by the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited relating to Asset Backed 
Securities the MTN Zakhele Futhi board has implemented the recommendations of the King Code through the application of the 
King Code disclosure and application regime. 

The principles relating to the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to the board to achieve a balance 
of power have not been applied. The Company has engaged service providers with the necessary expertise and experience to 
provide all services required by the Company in this regard, with the ultimate responsibility residing with the board of directors. 
This has been the case for the full period under review. 

There is a policy evidencing a clear balance of power and authority at board level to ensure that no director has unfettered powers 
of decision making. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is committed to business integrity, transparency and professionalism in all its activities to ensure that it acts 
ethically and responsibly to enhance the value of its business and benefit of all stakeholders. 

The material risks applicable to MTN Zakhele Futhi are available in the Pre-Listing Statement issued on 11 November 2019. The 
Pre-Listing Statement is available on https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/docs. Further disclosure in respect of this risk and the 
resulting impact on MTN Zakhele Futhi has been provided in Note 8, Note 21 and Note 25 of the annual financial statements. 

1. Incorporation and nature of business 
 

MTN Zakhele Futhi was incorporated as a public company under the laws of the Republic of South Africa on 21 June 2016. 
 

The Company is incorporated as the special purpose investment vehicle to effect MTN Group’s Broad Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (BBBEE) transaction. The implementation of the scheme followed the approval of the necessary elements of 
the BBBEE transaction by the shareholders of MTN Group on 7 October 2016. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is engaged in acquiring and holding shares in MTN Group on behalf of the participating black public. 
 

Due to the nature of the Company, MTN Zakhele Futhi has received a condonation from the Companies Tribunal of the 
Republic of South Africa from establishing a Social and Ethics Committee. This condonation is in place for a five-year period 
from 7 February 2024 which was the date on which the decision was granted... 

During the financial year, MTN Zakhele Futhi was in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act and applicable 
laws of the Republic of South Africa and was operating in conformity with its Memorandum of Incorporation. 

 
2. Operating and financial review 

The operating results and state of affairs of the Company are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements. 

Net loss after tax of the Company for the year was R737,2 million (2022: R973,5 million net loss) after tax expenses of 
R66,6 million (2022: R0,31 million). 

3. Share capital 

The issued share capital consisted of 8 ordinary shares issued on incorporation at no par value. A total of 123 416 818 
ordinary shares were issued subsequently on 23 and 24 November 2016 as part of the BBBEE transaction. The shares 
were issued at R20 per share on the date of issue. 

The ordinary shares were listed on the JSE Limited on 25 November 2019. 
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Director’s report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
4. Dividends 

No ordinary dividends were declared or paid during the current or prior year. 

5. Directorate 
 

The Company has a unitary board comprising of four non-executive directors and is committed to ensuring that there is a 
clear balance of power and authority at the board of directors' level. This is evident in the Memorandum of Incorporation 
where the powers of the board of directors have been clearly stipulated. The aim is to promote objectivity and reduce the 
possibility of conflicts of interest. 

 
The board of directors of the Company in office for the period of this report are as follows: 

 
Director 

 
Appointment / Resignation 

Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana Appointed 6 June 2017 

Grant Gelink Appointed 9 June 2017 

Belinda Mapongwana Appointed 22 June 2020 

Edward Pitsi Appointed 22 June 2020 

 
6. Auditors 

 
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc., will, subject to shareholder approval at the annual general meeting, continue in 
office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act. 

7. MTN Zakhele Futhi Debt Covenants 
 

The MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares are subject to a trigger event if the one day VWAP of the MTN Group Shares is 
R38 or less. The Company is subject to compliance with various debt covenants which are monitored on a monthly basis 
and adequately disclosed in note 8 of the annual financial statements. 

During 2023, there were no continuing trigger events and MTN Zakhele Futhi is in compliance with its debt covenant 
requirements at year end. 

8. Secretary 
 

Nedbank Limited, acting through its Group Secretariat, was appointed on 15 February 2017 as Company Secretary. 

The address of the Company Secretary is: 

Postal and physical address: 135 Rivonia Road 
 Sandown 
 Johannesburg 
 2193 



DocuSign Envelope ID: 89E4824D-1995-45E0-96C1-F48D0D9B8AFC 

13 

 

 

Director’s report 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
9. Directors' interests in shares 

 
As at 31 December 2023, the board of directors of the Company held the following number of direct or indirect beneficial 
interests in the issued ordinary shares of the Company: 

 
 2023  2022  

 Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 

Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana - 50 000 - 50 000 

Grant Gelink 61 081 - 61 081 - 

Belinda Mapongwana - - - - 

Edward Pitsi - 5 000 000 - 5 000 000 

 61 081 5 050 000 61 081 5 050 000 

 
The register of board of directors' and others interests in shares of the Company is available to shareholders on request. 

 
There have been no changes in beneficial interests of the board of directors that occurred between the end of the reporting 
period and the date of this report. 

10. Meetings held by the board 
 

The board held 4 meetings during 2023 and the members attended the meetings as follows: 
 

 Attended 

Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana 4/4 

Grant Gelink 3/4 

Belinda Mapongwana 4/4 

Edward Pitsi 4/4 

 
 

Ad-hoc board meetings 
 

Attended 
 

Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana 
 

10/17 

Grant Gelink 13/17 

Belinda Mapongwana 17/17 

Edward Pitsi 12/17 

 
 
 

11. Borrowing powers 
 

Borrowing capacity is determined by the board of directors and is limited in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation. 



DocuSign Envelope ID: 89E4824D-1995-45E0-96C1-F48D0D9B8AFC

14

Director’s report

For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. Events after the reporting date

No other significant events have occurred between the reporting date and [8] March 2024 that require adjustment or 
disclosure.

13. Going concern

The board of directors have reviewed the Company’s budget and cash flow forecast for the 12 months ahead. On the basis 
of this review, and in light of the current financial position of the Company, the board of directors are satisfied that the 
Company has sufficient assets for the remainder of the scheme, the scheme is scheduled to unwind on the 22 November 
2024.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 19 to 53, which have been prepared on the liquidation basis, were approved 
by the board on 8 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Belinda Mapongwana

Chairperson

8 March 2024



Victor Sekese [Chief Executive]

A comprehensive list of all Directors 
is available at the company offices 
or registered office

SNG Grant Thornton

Building 4, Summit Place 

Office Park, 221 

Garstfontein Road, 

Menlyn, 0081

T +27 (0) 86 117 6782

SNG Grant Thornton are a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide 
partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered independently by the member firms. GTIL 
does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Incorporated Registration Number: 2005/034639/21
sng-grantthornton.co.za

to the shareholders of MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited ( company ), set out on pages 19 to 53, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well 
as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of MTN Zakhele Futhi 
(RF) Limited as at 31 December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS ) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ( ISAs ). Our responsibilities under those 

report. 

Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors ( IRBA Code ) and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA 
Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the correspondin
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards).

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter - Going Concern

We draw attention to note 1.2 to the financial statements which describes the basis of preparing the financial statements. 
The company will wind up its operations within the next 12 months as a result of the mandatory redemption of the preference 
shares. In order to settle the outstanding debt, the company will have to utilise the sale of its shares in the MTN Group 
Limited. The financial statements therefore have not been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financ ial 
statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters: 
 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

 
Derivative financial instrument 
 
Refer to notes 3, and 25 of the annual financial statements 
for detailed disclosure of the derivative financial instrument 

 
The derivative financial instrument is classified as a 
financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. The 
company obtained notional vendor finance
facilitate the purchase of the MTN 

 MTN Group issued 25 721 165 NVF 
shares to the company at a total subscription price of 
R2 572 on 23 November 2016.  MTN Group has a call 
option against the company in respect of the shares 
included in the NVF facility.
 
As of 31 December 2023; financial liabilities carried at fair 
value through profit or loss represented 8% of total financial 
liabilities classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as 
prescribed by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.  

 
Financial instruments that are classified as level   2 or level 3 
in the fair value hierarchy will have some element of 
estimation uncertainty inherent in their value, and the 
uncertainty is higher for level 3 financial instruments which, 
by their nature, are unobservable.  These portfolios include 
certain derivative financial instruments. 
 
In addition, the notional outstanding debt at a given point in 
time is dependent on the dividends generated by MTN 
Group during the life of the option. 
 
The structure therefore represents a path dependent option 
which may increase the estimation uncertainty.  
 
Due to the significant judgment applied by the company and 
the extensive audit work that had to be performed, the 
valuation of the derivative financial instrument was 
considered a key audit matter.
 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

We identified relevant controls over the valuation of 
financial instruments and evaluated the design and 
implementation of those controls.

 We assessed the models used by the company, the 
interest and dividends rates applied at year-end, and 
reperformed the valuation by agreeing valuation 
inputs to independently sourced data; 

 We considered sensitivities to key factors including 
assessing the impact of change in the interests and 
dividends rates applied, the MTN Group share price 
and its volatility. 

 We independently recalculated the expected fair 
values to evaluate if the company
within a reasonable range in comparison with our 
independent expectation; 

 We also assessed the disclosures made relating to 
the valuation of the derivative financial instrument to 
ensure consistency with the requirements of the 
relevant accounting standards and with the 
methodologies applied by the company. 

 
 

Debt covenants 
 
Refer to notes 8, and 25 of the annual financial statements 
for detailed disclosure of the debt covenants 

 
 
The impact of the volatility of the MTN Group share price on 
debt covenants.  A breach in covenants would result in the 
preference share debt becoming due and payable at the 
request of the preference shareholder.  
 
Due to the significant pervasive impact of the debt 
covenants on the company and the extensive audit work 
that had to be performed, the audit of the debt covenants 
was considered a key audit matter. 

 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

 We assessed the loan agreements and 
correspondence issued by the preference share 
agents with the relevant counterparties for any 
breaches of the debt covenants. 

 We also assessed the disclosures made relating to 
the debt covenants to ensure consistency with the 
requirements of the relevant accounting standards. 
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Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled MTN Zakhele Futhi Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023

, the Audit, risk and compliance committee report and the Company secretary  as required 
by the Companies Act of South Africa.  
report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this 
regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 

ng 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

 Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.  
 

 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  
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(continued)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 04 December 2015, we report that 
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton has been the auditor of MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited for 8 years.

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
Registered Auditor

Nhlanhla Sigasa CA(SA)
Director
Registered Auditor

8 March 2024

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton
Building 4, Summit Place Office Park
221 Garsfontein Road
Menlyn
0081
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Statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2023 

  

 
31 December

2023
 
 
 

R ’000

 

 
31 December 

2022 

  
Notes 

 
R ’000 

 
ASSETS 

  
 
 

 
- 

 
 
 

 
6 506 839 

Non-current assets 
 

Investment in equities 2 
 - 6 506 839 

 
Current assets 

   

Investment in equities 2 5 903 691 - 
Current tax receivable  - 1 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 68 879 23 230 

Cash and cash equivalents – restricted funds 5 3 454 3 259 

Other receivables 4 851 549 
 5 976 875 27 039 

Total assets 5 976 875 6 533 878 

 
EQUITY AND LIABILITES 

   

Equity    

Share capital 6 2 468 336 2 468 336 

Reserves 7 (1 384 972) 209 205 

Accumulated profit  1 540 143 1 286 302 
 2 623 507 3 963 843 

 
LIABILITIES 

   

Non-Current Liabilities    

Borrowings 8 - 881 193 

Derivative financial instrument 3 - 1 598 853 

Deferred tax liability 9 - 67 926 
 - 2 547 972 

 
Current Liabilities 

   

Borrowings 8 755 183 16 660 

Derivative financial instrument 3 2 589 882 - 

Current tax payable  54 - 

Other liability 12 2 607 2 614 

Trade and other payables 11 5 642 2 789 
 3 353 368 22 063 

Total Liabilities 3 353 368 2 570 035 

Total Equity and Liabilities 5 976 875 6 533 878 
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Statement of profit or loss 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 

 
31 December 31 December

2023 2022
 Notes R ’000 R ‘000

 
Dividend income 

 
26 

 
253 557

 
230 506

Directors' emoluments 20 (1 211) (1 098)
Other operating expenses 13 (18 791) (14 481)

Operating profit 
 

233 555 214 927

Finance income 14 4 792 1 333

Finance costs incurred on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 15 (51 139) (65 243)
Loss on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument 16 (991 029) (1 432 145)

Loss before taxation 
 

(803 821) (1 281 128)
Income tax expense 17 66 633 307 637

Loss for the year 
 

(737 188) (973 491)

 
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 

 
27 

 
2.06

 
3.72

 

 

Statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
 

 
Notes

 
 

31 December
2023

R ’000

 
 

31 December
2022

R ‘000

Loss for the year 
 

(737 188) (973 491)

Other comprehensive income: 
   

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss:  (603 148) (1 706 535)

Loss on re-measurement of the investment in equities 7 (603 148) (2 218 868)
Deferred tax on re-measurement of the investment in equities  - 512 333
    

Total comprehensive loss for the year (1 340 336) (2 680 026)
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Statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
 
 

 
 Share capital I nvestment in Other reserve* 

equities 
Total reserves A ccumulated 

profit 
Total equity

R ’000 
reserve 

R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 2 468 336 3 206 587 (204 055) 3 002 532 1 173 001 6 643 869 

Profit for the year - - - - (973 491) (973 491)

Other comprehensive loss - (1 706 535) - (1 706 535) - (1 706 535)

Total before transfer reserves 
(loss)/income the year 

2 468 336 1 500 052 (204 055) 1 295 997 199 510 3 963 843

 
Transfer between reserves** 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1 086 792) 

 
(1 086 792) 

 
1 086 792 

 
- 

Balance at 31 December 2022  
2 468 336 

 
1 500 052 

 
(1 290 847) 

 
209 205 

 
1 286 302 

 
3 963 843

Balance at 1 January 2023 2 468 336 1 500 052 (1 290 847) 209 205 1 286 302 3 963 843

Loss for the year - - - - (737 188) (737 188)

Other comprehensive loss - (603 148) - (603 148) - (603 148)

Total before transfer reserves 
(loss)/income for the year 

2 468 336 896 904 (1 290 847) (393 943) 549 114 2 623 507

 
Transfer between reserves** 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(991 029) 

 
(991 029) 

 
991 029 

 
- 

Balance at 31 December 2023  
2 468 336 

 
896 904 

 
(2 281 876) 

 
(1 384 972) 

 
1 540 143 

 
2 623 507

Notes 6 7 7 7   

 
* The other reserve account is used to record the losses and gains recognised on the re-measurement of the derivative 
financial instrument. 

** The transfer between reserves arises in respect of the gain on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument that 
was recorded in profit and loss. The amount transferred is net of the related deferred tax. 
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Statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Notes 

 
31 December

2023
R ’000

 
31 December

2022
R ‘000

 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

Cash used in operations 18 (17,451) (14 982)

Dividends received 26 253,557 230 506

Interest income received 14 4,792 1 333

Finance costs paid 8 (62,011) (29 527)

Tax paid 19 (1,238) (373)

Net cash from operating activities 177 649 186 957

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

   

Redemption of cumulative redeemable non-participating preference 8 (131,798) (72 438)

Receipt of advance from MTN Holdings 10 - 2 867

Repayment of the advance from MTN Holdings 10 - (96 181)

Cash refunded to unsuccessful participants 12 (7) (130)

Net cash from financing activities (131 805) (165 882)

 
Total cash movement for the year 

 
 

45 844
 

21 075

Cash at the beginning of the year 
 

26 489 5 414

Total cash at the end of the year 5 72 333 26 489
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Accounting policies 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 

 
1. Significant accounting policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. 

1.1 General Information 
 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is an investment company that was specifically formed to facilitate the implementation of a BBBEE 
transaction by MTN Group aimed at maintaining MTN Group’s BBBEE status in support of South Africa’s Broad Based Black 
Economic Empowerment Codes of Good Practice. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is a public company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. The Company has registered its office 
at 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, 2196, Johannesburg. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 
 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the liquidation basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual financial statements, the Companies Act, as 
amended and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited relating to Asset Backed Securities. 

These annual financial statements comply with the requirements of the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the 
accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in 
Rands, which is the Company's functional currency. 

 
Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand. 

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions. 

It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Refer to note 1.13 for the critical accounting estimates and judgements used 
in the preparation of the annual financial statements. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the liquidation basis has been applied, this is due to the scheduled unwind date of 22 
November 2024. The company has not deviated from IFRS measurement models in preparing these financial statements. 

1.3  Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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Accounting policies 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
1.3  Financial instruments (continued) 

Classification and measurement 
 

The Company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories: 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 Financial assets at amortised cost 
 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

 
Classification is determined by both the Company’s business model for managing the financial instrument and the contractual 
characteristics of the financial instrument. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and 
financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value 
through profit or loss category. 

All income and expenses relating to financial instruments that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance 
costs, finance income or dividends received, except for the impairment losses which are presented within other operating 
expenses. 

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, adjusted for 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition financial instruments are measured as described 
below: 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets with a different business model other than 
“hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell”. Furthermore, irrespective of the business model, financial assets whose 
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are accounted for at FVTPL. 
Derivative financial instruments fall into this category unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category 
are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as 
non-current. 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values 
of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation 
technique where no active market exists. 

 The Company has made the irrevocable election to account for the investment in MTN shares, not classified as a 
derivative financial instrument, at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Financial assets at amortised cost 
 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the asset meets the following conditions (and are not designated 
as FVTPL): 

 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows 

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

 
They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
which are classified as non-current. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The entity's financial assets 
measured at amortised cost comprise other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
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Accounting policies 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
1.3 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 
 The Company has made the irrevocable election, in terms of IFRS 9 financial instruments, par.5.7.5 to account for 

the investment in MTN Group shares, not classified as a derivative financial instrument, at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. This election has been made due to the nature of the asset and the business model applied 
in managing this financial instrument. 

Any gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income will not be recycled upon de-recognition of the 
asset. 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 

Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, borrowings, the advance received from MTN Holdings and 
other non-current liabilities (excluding provisions). 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless 
the Company has designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings and the advance received form MTN Holdings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

Refer to note 1.7 below for the accounting policy applicable to the preference shares and advance received from MTN 
Holdings. 

De-recognition and Modifications 
 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired or 
when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when: 
 

 the contractual rights or obligations specified in the contract expire or are extinguished, discharged, or cancelled; 
 they are transferred and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met; or 
 the contractual terms of the instrument are substantially modified and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met. 

 
If the contractual cash flows of a financial liability measured at amortised cost are modified (renegotiated or rescheduled), 
the Company considers whether this is a substantial modification to the original terms. If the changes are considered to be 
a substantial modification, the Company derecognises the original financial liability and recognises a “new” liability at fair 
value, adjusted for transaction costs. Differences in the carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on 
derecognition. If the changes are considered to be an unsubstantial modification, the Company does not derecognise the 
original financial liability. In such instances a modification gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the present 
value of the “new” cash flows discounted at the “old” effective interest rate and the carrying value of the financial liability on 
the date of modification. The modification gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss. 

Fair value 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair value has been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based 
on the methods described below. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the note specific to that asset or liability. 

Transfers between fair value levels (level 1, level 2 and level 3) occur when a manner in which the fair value is determined 
has changed. 
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Accounting policies 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 

1.3 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

 Investment in equities 
 

Investments in equities are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. The fair value of the 
investments in equities are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at the reporting date. 

 Other receivables 
 

Other receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost. The fair value of other receivables 
is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date, 
unless it is short-term in nature, in which case its amortised cost approximates fair value. 

 Derivative financial instrument 
 

Derivative financial instruments are classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all of the following characteristics: 
 it's value changes in response to a change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 

price, foreign exchange or other variable; 
 it requires no initial net investment or an initial investment that is smaller than would be for other types; 
 it is settled at a future date. Derivatives are classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered 
into and attributable transaction costs are expensed. Subsequently, derivative financial instruments are remeasured 
at their fair value and movements are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The fair value of the derivative financial instrument which relate to the existing option, is estimated using valuation 
techniques. A Monte Carlo methodology was adopted to value the option. The Monte Carlo simulation allows for 
the option model to consider the dependencies which exist between the company value, the dividends paid, the 
notional funding value and the remitted value. Refer to note 3 for the respective assumptions used in the valuation. 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date, unless it is 
short-term in nature, in which case its amortised cost approximates fair value. 

Impairment of financial assets 
 

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model. The expected credit 
loss model requires the company to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. It is no longer 
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. 

IFRS 9 requires the company to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 
 trade receivables; and 
 debt investments measured subsequently at amortised cost or at FVOCI. 

 
In particular, IFRS 9 requires the company to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal 
to the lifetime expected credit loss (ECL) if the credit risk on the financial instrument increased significantly since the 
initial recognition or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset. However, if 
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition (except for a purchased 
or originated credit - impaired financial asset), the Company is required to measure the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12 months ECL. IFRS 9 also requires a simplified approach for measuring the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for trade receivables in certain circumstances. 
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Accounting policies 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 
1.3 Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 
 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that 

have low credit risk (‘stage 1’); 
 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose 

credit risk is not low ('stage 2’); and 
 financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at reporting date (‘stage 3’). 

 
An ECL assessment has been performed for all qualifying financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9. No impairment 
loss has been identified through this assessment. 

1.4 Other receivables 
 

Other receivables consist of accrued interest on the call accounts and prepayments relating to administration expenses 
that were paid in advance. 

1.5 Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value less transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. These payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities. 

1.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call and investments in money market instruments, 
net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for use by the Company. Bank overdrafts are included within current 
liabilities on the balance sheet unless the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and intends to settle 
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Restricted funds are deposits held and are not available for use by the Company, as these are legally due to unidentified 
depositors. 

 
1.7 Borrowings (Preference shares/Advance received from MTN Holdings) 

 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. 
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised 
as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabilities. The dividends on 
these preference shares are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as interest expense. 

 
1.8 Tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities 
 

Current tax is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of the current period 
exceeds the amount due for this period, the excess is recognised as an asset. 

Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using 
the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
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1.8  Tax (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the annual financial statements. 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised 
when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss). 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis. 

Tax expense 
 

The tax (credit)/expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. 
 

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised: 
 in other comprehensive income; or 
 directly in equity. 

 
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, 
in the same or a different period, directly in equity. 

1.9 Share capital and equity 
 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities (note 1.7). 
 

Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, other than in connection with a business 
combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

1.10 Dividends payable 
 

Dividends payable are recognised as a reduction from equity in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. 
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1.11 Income recognition 

Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the entity reduces 
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective 
interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan 
and receivables are recognised using the original effective interest rate. 

Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established. 

1.12 Directors' emoluments 
 

Remuneration to directors in respect of the services rendered during the reporting period is expensed in that reporting period. 

1.13 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on several factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 

 
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements, are outlined as follows: 

Income taxes 
 

Where applicable tax legislation is subject to interpretation, the Company makes assessments, based on expert tax advice, 
of the relevant tax that is likely to be paid and provides accordingly. When the final outcome is determined and there is a 
difference, this is recognised in the period in which the final outcome is determined. 

For purposes of the annual financial statements, the Company have assumed that the tax will be borne by the Company. 
Deferred tax has been calculated at capital gains tax rate as the increase in the investment in MTN Group shares will only 
be realised on the sale thereof. 

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The 
derivative instrument is based on assumptions as set out in note 3, these judgements and estimates are subject to change. 

The Company uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 
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1.13 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Impairment of fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets 

The Company follows the guidance of IFRS 9 to determine when a fair value through other comprehensive income equity 
investment is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. 

In determining the need to impair the other comprehensive income equity instrument, the Company evaluates, among other 
factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and 
short-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in 
technology and operational and financing cash flow. 

 
The Company determines that fair value through other comprehensive income equity instruments are impaired and 
recognised as such in other comprehensive income when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
below its cost. In making this judgement, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the normal volatility in the fair value. 
In addition, the impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, 
industry or sector, or operational and financing cash flows or significant changes in technology. 

There is no evidence of impairment of the MTN Group Shares held by the Company at year end. 
 
 

1.14 Expenses 
 

All expenses have been accounted for on the accrual basis. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of 
the expense. 

Expenses for the Company include expenses of Jabisan 04 (RF) Proprietary Limited (Jabisan 04) and the BFC 2 Owner 
Trust. 

Administration expenses of the Company and Jabisan 04 are limited to the amounts set out in clause 3.1 of Annexe A of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation i.e. R15 million per annum prior to the commencement of the BEE Listing Period 
(as defined in the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation), with an escalation allowance each year of the higher of 10% 
per annum or year-on-year changes in the CPI, on written approval of the Preference Share Agent and MTN Group plus the 
Administration Contingency Amount, plus an amount not exceeding R5 million in aggregate over the term of the Transaction 
(as defined in the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation) in relation to the specific categories of costs and expenses set 
out in clause 3.1.2 of Annexe A of the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation. 

Administration expenses include all service provider expenses payable by the Company per the Transaction Documents (as 
defined in the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation). 
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2. 

 
 
 
 

 
Investment in equities – Current asset 

 
31 December 

2023 

R’000 

 
31 December 

2022 

R’000 

 MTN Group shares 5 903 691 - 

 Reconciliation of the financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year 6 506 839 - 

 Loss on re-measurement of the investment in equities (603 148) - 

 Balance at the end of the year 5 903 691 - 

 Investment in equities – Non-current asset   

MTN Group shares - 6 506 839 

Reconciliation of the financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive   

income   

Balance at the beginning of the year - 8 725 707 
Loss on re-measurement of the investment in equities 

- (2 218 868) 
 Balance at the end of the year  

6 506 839 
  

The investment consists of 51 114 213 (2022: 51 114 213) MTN Group shares. The 
total investment together with the derivative financial instrument (refer note 3) 
comprises approximately 4% of MTN Group’s issued share capital. 

The shares were acquired for cash at a price of R4 593 511 342 on 23 November 
2016. 

The fair value of the investment is based on a quoted market price of R115,50 (2022: 
R127,30) per share as listed on the JSE Limited at 31 December 2023. The total loss 
recorded in other comprehensive income for the current financial year is R603 147 
713, with a loss in the previous financial year (2022: R2 218 867 986). 

  

 
3. 

 
Derivative financial instrument 

 As part of the implementation of the MTN Group BBBEE scheme, MTN Zakhele Futhi 
obtained notional vendor finance (NVF) to facilitate the purchase of MTN Group 
Shares. MTN Group issued 25 721 165 NVF shares to MTN Zakhele Futhi at a total 
subscription price of R2 572 on 23 November 2016. MTN Group has a call option 
against MTN Zakhele Futhi in respect of the shares included in the NVF facility. 

The notional outstanding debt at a given point in time is dependent on the dividends 
generated by MTN Group during the life of the option. The structure therefore 
represents a path dependent option. The Monte Carlo simulation was applied as the 
valuation technique, which is in line with standard market practice. 

The value of the option at year end was a liability of R2 589 882 488 (2022: 
R1 598 853 036). The significant inputs into the model were the market share price 
of MTN Group Shares of R115,50 (2022: R127,30), volatility of 30,87% (2022: 
38,54%), a dividend yield of 2,81% (2022: 2,95%) and an expected option life of eight 
years from inception and an annual risk-free rate of 8,06% (2022: 7,71%). 
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31 December 

2023 

R’000 

 
 
 

 
31 December 

2022 

R’000 

3. Derivative financial instrument (continued)   

 In terms of the NVF agreement, the notional funding provided by MTN Group earns 
notional interest at 80% of Prime (NACM). 

 
The notional vendor balance accrued R488 million (2022: R340 million) in interest for 
the year ended 31 December 2023. The notional vendor finance at year end was 
R5 620 million (2022: R5 132 million) 

  

 Financial liability at fair value through profit and loss   

 Balance at the beginning of the year (1 598 853) (166 708) 

 Fair value adjustments recorded in profit and loss (991 029) (1 432 145) 

 Fair value at end of the year (2 589 882) (1 598 853) 

 
 
4. 

 
 

Other receivables 

  

 Accrued interest income 402 114 

 Prepayments 275 261 

 Amount owing by MTN Group 174 174 

  851 549 

 The carrying amount of the other receivables approximates fair value.   

 
5. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

  

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of:   

 Bank balances 68 879 23 230 

 Restricted funds 3 454 3 259 

  72 333 26 489 

 Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in South African Rands. 

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. 

R3 453 992 (2022: R3 259 350) is held by the Company for unsuccessful applicants that 
need to be refunded due to the fact that bank deposit references did not allow their 
deposits to be matched to their application for MTN Zakhele Futhi shares. This resulted 
in shares not being allocated to these applicants during the initial offer period. Funds are 
being refunded as and when applicants present themselves. The Company is not obliged 
to pay interest to the applicants on the amounts refundable. These funds are not 
available to the Company for its own use and are therefore classified as restricted funds. 
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6. 

 
 
 

 
Share capital 

31 December 
2023 

R’000 

31 December 
2022 

R’000 

 Authorised share capital   

 300 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value 

3 200 000 cumulative redeemable non-participating preference shares 

Issued share capital 

  

 8 ordinary shares of no par value issued on incorporation * * 

 123 416 818 ordinary shares of no par value (issued on 23 and 24 November 2016) 2 468 336 2 468 336 

  2 468 336 2 468 336 

 *Amount less than R1 000   

 Issued cumulative redeemable non-participating preference shares are classified as 
borrowings (note 8). 

  

 The MTN Zakhele Futhi ordinary shares were subject to a minimum investment 
period of three years, from 24 November 2016 to 23 November 2019. Restricted 
trading of the MTN Zakhele Futhi ordinary shares is permissible between eligible 
individuals and groups, between the fourth to eighth years (ending 22 
November 2024). 

  

 
7. 

 
Reserves 

  

 Reserves consist of:   

 Investment in equities reserve 896,904 1 500 052 

 Other reserve (2,281,876) (1 290 847) 

  (1 384 972) 209 205 

  
 

Investment in equities reserve 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year 1 500 052 3 206 587 

 Loss on the revaluation of the investment in equities financial asset (603 148) (2 218 868) 

 Deferred tax on the revaluation of the investment in equities financial asset* - 512 333 

 Balance at the end of the year (896 904) 1 500 052 
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7. 

 
 
 

 
Reserves (continued) 

31 December 
2023 

R’000 

31 December 
2022 

R’000 

  
Other reserves 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year (1 290 847) (204 055) 

 loss on revaluation of the derivative financial instrument* (991 029) (1 432 145) 

 Deferred tax on the revaluation of the derivative financial instrument - 345 353 

 Balance at the end of the year (2 281 876) (1 290 847) 

 *The transfer between reserves arises in respect of the gain on the remeasurement 
of the derivative financial instrument that is recorded in profit or loss. The amount 
transferred is net of deferred tax calculated at the Capital Gains Tax (CGT) rate. 

  

 
8. 

 
Borrowings 

  

 Borrowings consist of the cumulative redeemable non-participating preference 
shares. 

  

 Long-term portion - 881 193 

 Short-term portion 755 183 16 660 

  755 183 897 853 

 Reconciliation of the cumulative redeemable non-participating preference 
shares 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year 897 853 936 862 

 Redemption of non-participating preference shares (redeemed at a par value of 
R1 000) 

(131 798) (72 438) 

 Interest paid on cumulative redeemable non-participating preference shares (62 011) (29 527) 

 Accrued interest at the effective interest rate 51 139 62 956 

 Balance at the end of the year 755 183 897 853 

 The above borrowings have been indirectly secured through the back-to-back 
preference shares issued by Jabisan 04. 

  

 MTN Zakhele Futhi issued cumulative redeemable non-participating MTN Zakhele 
Futhi preference shares (MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares) to Jabisan 04 on 
23 November 2016 at an issue price of R1 000 per MTN Zakhele Futhi preference 
share. The MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares were redeemable after 5 years 
from the date of issue i.e. 23 November 2021. During December 2020 the scheduled 
redemption date was extended to 23 November 2022. In addition, during September 
2021, agreements were concluded in relation to amendments to the terms of the 
MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares and the refinancing of the Jabisan 04 
preference share funding agreements and the holders of the cumulative redeemable 
preference shares agreed to extend the scheduled redemption date of the Jabisan 
04 preference shares and the MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares to 
22 November 2024, i.e. 8 years from the issue date. 
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8. Borrowings (continued) 

31 December 
2023 

R’000 

31 December 
2022 

R’000 

 
The revised terms of the preference shares, including the MTN Zakhele Futhi 
preference shares include a favourable change to the dividend rate applicable to the 
preference shares, being a reduction of 2.5% from 75% to 72.5% of the prime lending 
rate quoted by FirstRand Bank Limited (acting through its Rand Merchant Bank 
division), expressed as a simple rate of interest (compounded on each scheduled 
preference dividend date). 

The MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares accrue dividends (in arrears), which are 
payable on 30 April and 30 September over the term of the MTN Zakhele Futhi 
preference shares, or such earlier or later date as may be agreed in writing by MTN 
Zakhele Futhi and the Preference Share Agent at least 5 business days prior to 
30 April or 30 September of any year during the term of the MTN Zakhele Futhi 
preference shares. Subject to the relevant conditions, the accrued dividends may be 
rolled up to the agreed maximum amount (being an amount calculated on the date 
the relevant priority of payments set out in the memorandum of incorporation of MTN 
Zakhele Futhi, equal to no more than 105% of the issue price of the unredeemed 
MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares plus all accrued and/or accumulated 
preference share dividends in relation to such shares). 

MTN Zakhele Futhi is structured robustly and is supported by MTN Group in multiple 
ways. Over the eight-year life of the scheme, the potential for unforeseen, but 
material and sudden, movements in market prices were provided for, and a 
mechanism was included in the Transaction Documents to enable MTN Group (or 
other permitted MTN Group company) to voluntarily take over the third-party funding 
in these circumstances, through the exercise of a call option to purchase the 
unredeemed preference shares. 

 
The MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares are subject to a trigger event if the one 
day VWAP of the MTN Group Shares is R38 or less. This trigger event was revised 
during 2021, with the consent of the MTN Zakhele Futhi shareholders, the preference 
shareholders, the Company and MTN Group, from a one-day VWAP of R50 to a one- 
day VWAP of R38. The MTN Zakhele Futhi preference shares are also subject to the 
following debt covenants: 

 
MTN Group Net Debt to 
EBITDA 

Trigger Event  Volatility Protection  

Total Share 
Cover Ratio 

Top-Up 
Required 

Volatility 
Protection 
Share Cover 
Ratio 

Top-Up 
Required 

< 2.00 times 2.00 times 2.90 times 2.30 times 2.60 times 
> = 2.00 times 2.20 times 3.20 times 2.60 times 2.90 times 
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 31 December 

2023 

R’000 

31 December 
2022 

R’000 

8. Borrowings (continued)  

 The Total Share Cover Ratio is, as at any date, the ratio A:B where: 

 A is the number of MTN Group shares reflected in the Subject Share Security 
Account multiplied by the Five Day VWAP of the MTN Group shares; and 

 B is (a) the aggregate MTN Zakhele Futhi Redemption Amount (excluding any 
MTN Zakhele Futhi Margin Dividend) of the MTN Zakhele Futhi unredeemed 
preference shares as at that date calculated on the basis that the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi unredeemed preference shares were to be redeemed on that date; less 
(b) the aggregate of all amounts standing to the credit of the Jabisan 04 
Collection Account, MTN Zakhele Futhi Collection Account, the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi Security Account, Jabisan 04 Top up Loan Account and the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi Top up Loan Account on that date. 

The Volatility Protection Share Cover Ratio is, at any date, the ratio of A:B where: 

 A is the MTN Group shares in the Subject Share Security Account multiplied by 
the one-day VWAP of the MTN Group Shares; and 

 B is (a) the aggregate MTN Zakhele Futhi Redemption Amount (excluding any 
MTN Zakhele Futhi Margin Dividend) of the MTN Zakhele Futhi unredeemed 
preference shares as at that date calculated on the basis that the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi unredeemed preference shares were to be redeemed on that date; less 
(b) the aggregate of all amounts standing to the credit of the Jabisan 04 
Collection Account, MTN Zakhele Futhi Collection Account, the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi Security Account, Jabisan 04 Top up Loan Account and the MTN Zakhele 
Futhi Top up Loan Account on that date. 

If the above covenants are triggered the holders of the back-to-back preference 
shares issued by Jabisan 04 will, amongst other things, have the right to enforce the 
sale of sufficient MTN Group Shares to repay their outstanding debt. 

 

 There are no continuing trigger events and MTN Zakhele Futhi is in compliance with 
its debt covenant requirements at year end. 

The following security and credit support are held as at 31 December 2023: 

First Ranking Guarantee, given by MTN Zakhele Futhi in respect of the obligations 
of Jabisan 04 under the Jabisan 04 preference shares (cumulative redeemable 
non-participating preference shares) issued by Jabisan 04 to the Jabisan 04 
Preference Shareholders on 23 November 2016. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi Pledge and Cession given by MTN Zakhele Futhi in favour of the 
Jabisan 04 Preference Shareholders in terms of which MTN Zakhele Futhi pledges 
and cedes in security the Subject Shares (the MTN Group shares held by MTN 
Zakhele Futhi from time to time) for its obligations under the First Ranking Guarantee. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi Reversionary Pledge and Cession by MTN Zakhele Futhi in 
favour of MTN Group and MTN Holdings Limited and each Subordinated MTN 
Acceded Nominee (MTN Group Entities) in terms of which MTN Zakhele Futhi 
pledges and cedes in security its Primary Reversionary Rights to the Subject Shares 
(the MTN Group shares held by MTN Zakhele Futhi from time to time) for its 
obligations in respect of certain Transaction Documents. 
MTN Zakhele Futhi Account Cession by MTN Zakhele Futhi in favour of the Jabisan 
04 Preference Shareholders in terms of which MTN Zakhele Futhi cedes in security 
the MTN Zakhele Futhi Account Rights (and any other assets designated as 
Collateral) for its obligations under the First Ranking Guarantee. 
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Borrowings (continued) 

 
 

MTN Zakhele Futhi Reversionary Account Cession by MTN Zakhele Futhi in favour 
of the MTN Group Entities in terms of which MTN Zakhele Futhi cedes in security 
the MTN Zakhele Futhi Account Rights (and any other assets designated as 
Collateral) for its obligations in respect of certain Transaction Documents. 
MTN Subordination and Undertaking Agreement entered into between the Jabisan 
04 Preference Shareholders, Jabisan 04, MTN Zakhele Futhi, FirstRand Bank 
Limited, acting through its Rand Merchant Bank division (in its capacity as 
Preference Share Agent), MTN Group and MTN Holdings in terms of which the 
MTN Group Entities (i) subordinate their claims against MTN Zakhele Futhi in favour 
of Jabisan 04 and the holders of the Jabisan 04 preference shares and (ii) 
subordinate their claims against Jabisan 04 in favour of the Jabisan 04 Preference 
Shareholders; and MTN Holdings provides a limited recourse guarantee in favour 
of the Jabisan 04 Preference Shareholders. 
The MTN Group Shares (being 76 835 378 ordinary shares) are held at FirstRand 
Bank Limited, acting through its Rand Merchant Bank Custody and Trustee 
Services division (in its capacity as Security Custodian). 

31 December 
2023 

R’000 

31 December 
2022 

R’000 

9. Deferred tax liability 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

Deferred tax asset limited to availability of deferred tax liability 

Revaluation of available-for-sale financial asset recorded in OCI 

 

 
67 926 

(67 926) 
- 

 

 
888 269 

(308 010) 
(512 333) 

  Balance at end of the year - 67 926 

  
Deferred Tax Net Balance 

Deferred Tax on Available for sale Financial Asset 

Deferred Tax on Derivative Financial Asset 

 

 
(282 999) 

559 415 

 

 
(413 279) 

345 353 

  276 416 (67 926) 
 Net Deferred Tax Asset/Liability 

Deferred tax on the revaluation of the investment in equities and the derivative 
financial instrument are raised at the CGT rate of 21.6%. 

A deferred tax asset of R276 million (2022: Nil) has not been recognised due to the 
uncertainty of future taxable income against which to utilise the deferred tax asset. 
Future taxable income is entirely dependent on a favourable MTN Group share 
price. Due to the unpredictability of the market the company has adopted a policy 
of not raising a deferred tax asset to which there is no predictable deferred tax 
liability against which to utilise it. 

  

 
10 

 
Advance from MTN Holdings 
Reconciliation of the advance from MTN Holdings 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year   

 Receipt of advance - 91 028 

 Accrued interest at the effective interest rate - 2 867 

 Repayment of the advance from MTN Holdings - 2 286 

 Balance at the end of the year - (96 181) 

  - - 
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  31 December 
2023 

31 December 
2022 

  R’000 R’000 

10. Advance from MTN Holdings (continued)   

 In order to allow MTN Zakhele Futhi to meet all its financial obligations and 
continue in operation until the next dividend declaration, MTN Group, through its 
subsidiary MTN Holdings, advanced R15,0 million to MTN Zakhele Futhi on 
22 September 2020. Further advances of R31 609 594 was granted on 
23 April 2021, R3,2 million on 19 November 2021, and R2,9 million on 
4 February 2022. 

  

 The advance bears interest at the South African prime rate and is repayable from 
amounts in the provisions account which are used for allowable administration 
costs (as included in the Transaction Documents), or otherwise in accordance 
with the Transaction Documents, when MTN Zakhele Futhi has sufficient funds 
on hand. 
The MTN Holdings Advance was repaid in full during the prior year (2022) 
including interest. 

  

11. Trade and other payables 
  

 Administration costs 4 067 1 252 

 Director's and secretarial fees 122 125 

 Professional fees and other 1 453 1 412 

 Balance at the end of the year 5 642 2 789 

 
 
12. 

 
 

Other liability 

  

 The other liability consists of amounts due and payable to unsuccessful applicants. 
Shares were not allocated to these applicants during the initial offer period due to 
incorrect references being used on their payments resulting in their deposits not 
being matched to their underlying application. 

 Balance at the end of the year 2 607 2 614 

 The carrying amount of the trade and other payables approximates fair value.   

Opening 2 614 2 744 

Amounts/cash refunded to unsuccessful participants (7) (130) 

 Closing 2 607 2 614 
 
 
13. 

 
 

Other operating expenses 

  

 
Administration and preference agent fees (11 142) (9 129) 

 Auditors’ remuneration (1 355) (1 364) 

 Securities transfer tax (330) (363) 

 Legal and other professional fees (4 575) (2 694) 

 Secretarial expenses (107) (100) 

 Annual general meeting, including printing and postage (952) (831) 
 

Expenses paid on behalf of Jabisan 04 & BFC Ownership Trust (330) - 

  (18 791) (14 481) 
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  31 December 
2023 

31 December 
2022 

  R’000 R’000 

13. Other operating expenses (continued)   

  
In accordance with the underlying Transaction, Document, the Company pays 
all the expenses of Jabisan 04 and BFC 2 Owner Trust. The major expenses 
paid in respect of these include audit fees and securities transfer taxation paid 
on the redemption of preference shares by Jabisan 04. 

  

 
14. 

 
Finance income 

  

 Interest income is earned from investments in financial assets.   

 Interest income from bank and cash 4 792 1 333 

  4 792 1 333 

15 Finance costs incurred on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   

 Interest expense – borrowings (accrued dividends) 65 506 56 570 

 Interest expense – advance from MTN Holdings - 2 287 

 Transaction costs capitalised (14 367) 6 386 

  51 139 65 243 

 
 
16 

 
 

Loss on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument 

  

 Fair value losses arise on financial instruments recognised at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

  

 Loss on revaluation of the derivative financial instrument (991 029) (1 432 145) 

 
 
 

 
17 

 
 
 

 
Income tax expense 

  

 Major components of the tax expense include:   

 Current taxation   

 Normal taxation (1 293) (373) 

 Deferred taxation   

 Current year tax movement 67 926 320 801 

 Reduction in tax rate - (12 791) 

 Deferred tax previously unrecognised - - 

  66 633 307 637 
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  31 December 
2023 

31 December 
2022 

 
 
17. 

 
 

Income tax expense (continued) 

R’000 R’000 

 Reconciliation of the tax credit   

 The income tax expenses for the year is reconciled to the effective rate of tax as 
follows: 

  

 Applicable rate 27.00% 28.00% 

 Exempt dividends 8.52% 5.04% 

 Expenses not deductible for tax* (2.39%) (1.77%) 

 Difference between CGT and statutory tax on the revaluation of the derivative 
instrument 

(6.66%) (6.26%) 

 Reduction in tax rate (0.00%) (1%) 

 Unrecognised deferred tax asset (18.19%) - 

 Effective tax rate 8.28% 24.01% 

 Deferred tax on the fair value adjustment of the derivative financial instrument is 
raised at the CGT rate (21.60%). 

The corporate tax rate was 27% during 2023 

  

 *Detailed expenses not deducted for tax purposes are not disclosed as all expenses 
are treated as non-deductible for tax purposes (IAS 12 Income Tax par 81c). 

  

18. Cash used in operations 
  

 Loss before taxation (803 821) (1 281 128) 

 Adjusted for:   

 Interest income (4 792) (1 333) 

 Finance costs incurred on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 51 139 65 243 

 Loss on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument 991 029 1 432 145 

 Dividend income (253 557) (230 506) 

 Changes in working capital:   

 (Increase)/Decrease in other receivables (302) 108 

 Increase in trade and other payables 2 853 489 

  (17 451) (14 982) 

 
 
19. 

 
 

Tax paid 

  

 Balance at the beginning of the year 1 (1) 

 Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (1 293) (373) 

 Balance at the end of the year 54 1 

  (1 238) (373) 
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31 December 31 December 

2023 2022 

20. Related parties  R’000 R’000 

Relationships    

Preference shareholder: Jabisan 04   

Ordinary shareholder of preference 
shareholder: 

BFC 2 Owner Trust   

Provider of notional vendor finance: MTN Group   

Provider of advance: MTN Holdings   

Non-executive directors: Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana   

 Manana Nhlanhla   

 Grant Gelink 

Belinda Mapongwana 

Edward Pitsi 

  

 
Related party balances: 

   

Preference share liability    

Jabisan 04  798 627 926 930 

Advance received    

Mobile Telephone Network Holdings Proprietary Limited - 2 867 

Ordinary share capital held by related party    

MTN Group  365 540 365 540 

Related party transactions: 
   

Dividend received from related party    

MTN Group  253 557 230 506 

Interest paid to related parties    

Jabisan 04  62 011 29 527 

Other receivables    

MTN Group  174 174 

Interest payments accrued in respect of related parties 

Mobile Telephone Network Holdings Limited  - 2 287 

Expenses paid on behalf of related parties    

Jabisan 04  330 - 

Remuneration of the board of directors – board of directors fees* 

Sindisiwe Mabaso-Koyana 
 

243 216 

Grant Gelink  254 213 

Belinda Mapongwana  449 408 
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 31 December 
2023 

31 December 
2022 

Related parties (continued) R’000 R’000 

Edward Pitsi 265 232 

Manana Nhlanhla - 29 

 1 211 1 098 

 
* VAT (at a rate of 15%) is charged by the non-executive directors where applicable. 

 
The board of directors do not consider the key service providers to be “key management personnel” as defined in IAS 24, Related 
Party Disclosure. 

These transactions above with the relevant providers and management are considered to be equivalent to those at an arm’s length 
transaction. 

 
21. Going concern 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to the liquidation basis other 
than the going concern assumption. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the scheme will unwind on the 22 
November 2024. This basis presumes that assets will be available to settle all current liabilities through the realisation of assets, 
settlement of contingent obligations and any commitments that will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

 
The board of directors have assessed the going concern assumption after consideration of the following: 

 
 Should cash resources once again become strained, (including as a result of the dividend roll up mechanism in relation to 

the Company’s preference shares not being available to the Company, the Company’s board of directors would consider 
the possibility of financial assistance from MTN, and other considerations as determined by the MTN ZF Board and MTN. 
This would assist in providing MTN Zakhele Futhi with improved liquidity to meet its obligations which have been classified 
as current liability, as the debt is due and payable within 12 months. 

 The Company’s only asset is the 76 835 378 ordinary shares held in MTN Group. MTN Zakhele Futhi is entirely dependent 
on the dividends received from MTN Group and any appreciation in the MTN share price to generate income. 

 As per MTN SENS announcement on the 14th August 2023, MTN has indicated a minimum ordinary dividends per share 
of 330 cents for 31 December 2023 year end. This will ensure that, subject to application of the preference share dividend 
roll up mechanism referred to above, MTN Zakhele Futhi has enough cash to meet its preference share obligations and 
operational requirements for the next 12 months. 

 The Company is scheduled to be winding up on 22 November 2024. The enclosed statement of financial position has taken 
this into consideration and reclassified the entire non-current liability to current liability and the non-current asset has been 
reclassified to current asset. This effectively means that the preference share debt needs to be repaid on the 22 November 
2024 and that the available for sale asset can be utilised to settle all the outstanding obligations subject to the necessary 
approvals. 

 
Based on the above and the Company’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonable possible changes in investment 
performance, the annual financial statements have been prepared on the liquidation basis as the scheme will unwind on the 
22 November 2024. 

 
22. Events after the reporting period 

 
The arbitration regarding the fee dispute is ongoing. A new service provider for the scheme is expected to be announced in 
due course. 
The scheme is currently scheduled to unwind on 22 November 2024. 

 
The MTN share price has declined significantly since the beginning of the year, the share price has declined by 39%, currently 
trading around the R82.63 per share. This decline has a material impact on the scheme in terms of the Net Asset Value. Refer 
to note 28. 

No other significant events have occurred between the reporting date and 8 March 2024 that require adjustment or disclosure. 

23. Contingencies, commitments and guarantees 

A dispute has arisen between MTN Zakhele Futhi and a service provider regarding fees payable which resulted in arbitration. 
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24. Categories of financial instruments 

The financial instruments of the Company have been classified as follows: 
 

Financial assets Financial Total financial 
liabilities instruments 

31 December 2023 Fair value 
through 

other 
comprehen 

Amortised 
cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

Total 
carrying 
amount 

Fair value 

 sive income 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

profit or 
loss 

R’000 

cost 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

Assets       

Investment in equities 5 903 691 - - - 5 903 691 5 903 691 

Other receivables - 851 - - 851 851 

Cash and cash equivalent - 72 333 - - 72 333 72 333 

Liabilities       

Derivative financial instrument - (2 589 882) - (2 589 882) (2 589 882) 

Borrowings -  - (755 183) (755 183) (755 183) 

Advance from MTN Holdings -  - - - - 

Trade and other payables -  - (5 642) (5 642) (5 642) 

Other liability -  - (2 607) (2 607) (2 607) 

Financial assets Financial Total financial 
liabilities instruments 

31 December 2022 Fair value 
through 

other 
comprehen 

Amortised 
cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

Total 
carrying 
amount 

Fair value 

 sive income 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

profit or 
loss 

R’000 

cost 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

 

 
R’000 

Assets       

Investment in equities 6 506 839 - - - 6 506 839 6 506 839 

Other receivables - 549 - - 549 549 

Cash and cash equivalent - 26 489 - - 26 489 26 489 

Liabilities       

Derivative financial instrument - ( 598 853) - (1 598 853) (1 598 853) 

Borrowings -  - (897 853) (897 853) (897 853) 

Advance from MTN Holdings -  - - - - 

Trade and other payables -  - (2 789) (2 789) (2 789) 

Other liability -  - (2 614) (2 614) (2 614) 
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25. Financial risk management and financial instruments 

a. Financial risk management 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(price risk and interest rate risk). This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. 
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these annual financial statements. 

b. Fair value estimation 

In terms of IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at 
fair value require disclosure of the fair value by level in terms of the following fair value hierarchy: 

 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 

 Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of the fair value hierarchy at the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. During the year under review there have been no transfers between any of 
the levels. 

The fair value of the investment in equity financial assets is based on the MTN Group share price, as listed on the JSE Limited. 
The fair value of the derivative financial asset is based on a valuation model. The input to this model includes the MTN Group 
share price, which is an observable input in the market. Other inputs include interest rates on borrowings and dividend rates on 
the preference share funding, which inputs are not observable in the market. The assumptions and model used are disclosed 
in note 3. 

The table below presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value (where the fair value does not 
approximate the financial instruments carrying amount) and those measured at amortised cost whose fair value is disclosed. 

 Level 1 

R’000 

Level 2 

R’000 

Level 3 

R’000 

Total 

R’000 

31 December 2023 

Recurring fair value measurement 
    

Investment in equities 5 903 691 - - 5 903 691 

Derivative financial instrument - - (2 589 882) (2 589 882) 

Amortised cost measurement     

Borrowings - (755 183) - (755 183) 

     

31 December 2022     

Recurring fair value measurement     

Investment in equities 6 506 839 - - 6 506 839 

Derivative financial instrument - - (1 598 853) (1 598 853) 

Amortised cost measurement     

Borrowings - (897 813) - (897 813) 

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 or 3 during the financial year. 
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25.  Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

 

 
c. Derivative financial instrument 

Sensitivity analysis – impact of change in the MTN Group share price 

The table below summarises the impact of increases/(decreases) of the MTN Group share price on profit or loss and the impact 
on equity. 

The analysis is based on the assumption that the MTN Group share price increases/(decreases) by 10% with all other variables 
held constant. 

Impact on post-tax profit and 
equity 

 

 31 December 31 December 
2023 2022 

R’000 R’000

10% increase 223 293 222 582

10% decrease (163 101) (181 188)

 
 

Sensitivity analysis – impact of change in interest rate 

The table below summarises the impact of increases/(decreases) in the interest rate on the borrowings on profit or loss and the 
impact on equity. 

The analysis is based on the assumption that the interest rate 
increased/decreased by 1% with all other variables held constant. 

Impact on post-tax profit and 
equity 

 
 31 December 31 December 

2023 2022 

R’000 R’000 

1% increase 8 220 13 855 

1% decrease (8 220) (13 855)

 
Sensitivity analysis – impact of change in volatility 

The table below summarises the impact of increases/(decreases) in the volatility of the MTN Group share price on profit or loss. 

The analysis is based on the assumption that the volatility percentage applied in the valuation model increased/decreased by 
5% with all other variables held constant. 

Impact on post-tax profit 
 

 31 December 31 December 

2023 2022

R’000 R’000

5% increase 86 386 150 637

5% decrease (71 833) (137 837)
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25.  Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

 
Sensitivity analysis – impact of dividend yield 

The table below summarises the impact of increases/(decreases) in the dividend yield of the MTN Group share price on profit 
or loss. The analysis is based on the assumption that the dividend yield applied in the valuation model increased/decreased by 
1% with all other variables held constant. 

Impact on post-tax profit 
 

 31 December 31 December 
2023 2022 

R’000 R’000

1% increase (3 989) (15 801)

1% decrease 4 049 16 258

 
d. Financial assets 

Price risk 

The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk because investments held by the Company which are classified on the 
statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income The Company’s exposure 
to equity securities price risk is limited to the MTN Group share price. 

The table below summarises the impact of increases/(decreases) of the MTN Group share price. The analysis is based on the 
assumption that the MTN Group share price had increased/(decreased) by 10% with all other variables held constant. 

 

 
Impact on other comprehensive 

income before tax 

 31 December 31 December 
2023 2022 

R’000 R’000

10% increase 590 369 650 683

 
10% 

 
decrease (590 369) (650 683)

 
e. Borrowings 

Cash flow and fair value interest risk 

The entity’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings by means of preference shares and the advance received from 
MTN Holdings which are based on variable rates. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Company to cash flow interest 
rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. 

The Company analyses its interest rate exposure periodically. Scenarios are generally simulated taking into consideration 
repricing of preference share funding in terms of the derivative model to further reduce exposure to interest rate changes and, 
in certain cases refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these scenarios, the Company 
calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent 
the major interest-bearing positions. 
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25.  Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

 

 
Sensitivity analysis 

The Company has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income of an instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in market interest rates, 
from the rate applicable at 31 December 2020, for each class of financial instrument, with all other variables remaining constant. 
This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice, markets rarely change in isolation. 

Changes in the above market interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before tax by the 
amounts shown below. 

The analysis has been performed on the basis of the change occurring at the start of the reporting period and assumes that all 
other variables remain constant. 

 Upward change in Dow 
interest rate 

R’000 

nward change in 
interest rate

R’000

31 December 2023   

1% movement 8 853 977 (9 870 063)

31 December 2022   

1% movement 6 739 430 (6 791 545)

 
f. Liquidity risk 

The Company’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Company manages liquidity 
risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities. 

The Company ensures it has sufficient cash on demand (currently the company is maintaining a positive cash position) to meet 
expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; and having regard to the limitation of the cash 
flow waterfall provided in the funding agreements. 

The Company is primarily dependent on dividends from MTN Group to service its obligations and to a very small extent on 
interest received. The liquidity risks are considered high due to the Company being dependent on the receipt of a dividend from 
MTN to service its financial obligations. 

The Company however remains confident that the available cash resources and borrowing facilities, will be sufficient to meet 
its funding requirements. Subject to the rights of the preference shareholders, cash may also be used to repay the NVF to MTN 
Group. Refer to Note 21 for further information impacting the Company’s liquidity. 

The cash and cash equivalents exclude the restricted funds of R3,5 million (2022: R3,3 million) due to unidentifiable applicants 
as this cash is not available to the Company for use. 

Available liquid resources, subject to the securities described in note 8 are as follows: 

 
 

31 December 
2023 

R’000 

 
31 December

2022

R’000 

Cash at bank and on hand 68 879 23 230

Other receivables 851 549

 69 730 23 779
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25.  Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

 
The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances 
as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
 Payable in one year Paya

one
le more than Pay 
year but less  than

able more 
five years 

Carrying 
Amount 

t 

R’000 

han five years 

R’000 
 

R’000 
 

R’000

31 December 2023     

Borrowings 755 183   755 183

Derivative financial instrument 2 589 882   2 589 882

Advance from MTN Holdings -   -

Other payables 5 642   5 642

Other liability 2 607   2 607

31 December 2022     

Borrowings 16 660 881 193  897 853

Derivative financial instrument  1 598 853  1 598 853

Advance from MTN Holdings -   -

Other payables 2 789   2 789

Other liability 2 614   2 614

 
g. Capital risk management 

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the preference share liabilities (excluding derivative 
financial liabilities) (disclosed in notes 8), advance from MTN Holdings (disclosed in note 10), cash and cash equivalents 
(disclosed in note 5), and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position. 

Income generated by the entity will first be utilised for the purpose of settling any obligations in respect of borrowings before 
dividends are declared. 

The borrowings (preference shares) have debt covenants, the details of which have been included in note 8. The security and 
credit support disclosed in note 8 have a remaining contractual period up to the final discharge of the obligations under the 
funding documents, which is expected to be 22 November 2024. 

h. Credit risk 

Credit risk, or the risk of financial loss to the Company rises due to counterparties not meeting their contractual obligations. 

Credit risk is managed on an entity basis. Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial 
instruments and outstanding receivables. The Company deposits cash only with major banks with high-quality credit standings 
and limits exposure to any one counterparty. There are no material receivables and all financial assets are fully performing with 
no history of defaults. 

The Company will continue to manage its credit risk relating to financial instruments by only transacting with credit-worthy 
counterparties. 
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25. Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

 

 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets that are exposed 
to credit risk. 

There are no financial assets held that are past due and not impaired. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The cash and cash equivalents are held at FirstRand Bank. This financial institution is a highly rated entity in the South African 
environment and the credit quality of this institution has therefore been assessed as acceptable. 

 

26. Dividend income 

 
MTN Zakhele Futhi holds 51 114 213 MTN Group shares as a fair value through other comprehensive income financial asset 
(note 2) and 25 721 165 MTN Group Listed shares through an NVF facility (note 3). The Company held 76 835 378 MTN Group 
shares throughout the financial year. 

The total dividend income received by MTN Zakhele Futhi from MTN Group during the financial period was R253 556 747 
(2022: R230 506 134). 

 

 
 
 

 
27.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
There are no items included in the calculation of profit attributable to shareholders which are required to be excluded in 
terms of circular 2/2015, Headline Earnings, in the calculation of headline earnings per share. 

 

28. Net Asset Value 

The Net Asset Value Per Share (NAVPS) is a metric used to assess the value of one share. The NAVPS is obtained by 
dividing the net asset value of the scheme by the number of outstanding shares. Refer to note 22. 

 
 

Net Asset Value = (Total Assets – Total Liabilities)/Total number of Outstanding Shares 

= (5 976 875 - 3 353 368)/123 416 818 

= 2 623 507/123 416 818 

= R21.26 per share (2022: R32.11 per share) 

   

 31 December 
2023 

R’000 

 
31 December 2022 

R’000 

Basic and diluted loss per share   

 
Number of ordinary shares in issue at year end (‘000) 

 
123 417 

 
123 417 

Weighted average number of shares (‘000) 123 417 123 417 

 
Loss for the year 

 
(737 188) 

 
(973 491) 

Adjusted for:   

- (Loss) on remeasurement of the derivative financial instrument 991 029 1 432 145 

Loss attributable to shareholders 253 841 458 654 

 
 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 

 
 

2.06 

 
 

3.72 
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29 New standards and interpretations 

29.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 

In the current year, the Company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these standards did not have a material impact on the 
annual financial statements. 

 

International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for the 31 December 2023 
year end 

Standard Details of the development Effective date 

 
 

Initial Application of 
IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9—Comparative 

 
The amendment is a transition option relating to comparative 
information about financial assets presented on initial 
application of IFRS 17. The amendment is aimed at helping 

 

 
Annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. 

Information entities to avoid temporary accounting mismatches between  

 financial assets and insurance contract liabilities, and therefore  

 improve the usefulness of comparative information for users of  

 financial statements.  

 
 

Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies 

 
 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2) amends IAS 1 in the following 
ways: 
• An entity is now required to disclose its material 
accounting policy information instead of its significant 
accounting policies; 
• several paragraphs are added to explain how an entity 
can identify material accounting policy information and to give 
examples of when accounting policy information is likely to be 
material; 
• the amendments clarify that accounting policy 
information may be material because of its nature, even if the 
related amounts are immaterial; 
• the amendments clarify that accounting policy 
information is material if users of an entity’s financial 
statements would need it to understand other material 
information in the financial statements; and 
• the amendments clarify that if an entity discloses 
immaterial accounting policy information, such information shall 
not obscure material accounting policy information. 
In addition, IFRS Practice Statement 2 has been amended by 
adding guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the 
application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ to accounting 
policy information in order to support the amendments to IAS 1. 

 
 

Annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. 

(Amendments to IAS  

1 and IFRS Practice  

Statement 2)  
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29 New standards and interpretations…continued 

29.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year continued 

 

International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for the 31 December 2023 
year end 

Standard Details of the development Effective date 

 
Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 
(Amendments to IAS 
8) 

The amendments introduced the definition of accounting 
estimates and included other amendments to IAS 8 to help 
entities distinguish changes in accounting estimates from 
changes in accounting policies. 

 
 

Annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. 

 The definition of a change in accounting estimates has been 
replaced with a new definition which defines accounting 
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are 
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty”. 

 

 
Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies 
require items in financial statements to be measured in a way 
that involves measurement uncertainty. 

 

 
The Board clarifies that a change in accounting estimate that 
results from new information or new developments is not the 
correction of an error. In addition, the effects of a change in an 
input or a measurement technique used to develop an 
accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if 
they do not result from the correction of prior period errors. 
A change in an accounting estimate may affect only the current 
period’s profit or loss, or the profit or loss of both the current 
period and future periods. The effect of the change relating to 
the current period is recognised as income or expense in the 
current period. 

 

 
The effect, if any, on future periods is recognised as income or 
expense in those future periods. 

 

Classification of 
Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current – 
Amendment to IAS 1 

The amendments clarify a criterion in IAS 1 for classifying a 
liability as non-current: the requirement for an entity to have the 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. 
The amendments: 
• specify that an entity's right to defer settlement must 
exist at the end of the reporting period; 
• clarify that classification is unaffected by 
management's intentions or expectations about whether the 
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement; 
• clarify how lending conditions affect classification; and 
• clarify requirements for classifying liabilities an entity 
will or may settle by issuing its own equity instruments. 

Annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. 
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29 New standards and interpretations…continued 

29.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year…continued 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for the 31 December 2023 
year end 

Standard Details of the development Effective date 

 
Deferred Tax related 
to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction 

The amendments require companies to recognise deferred tax 
on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal 
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is 
permitted. 

The amendment requires companies, at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented: 
• to recognise a deferred tax asset – to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised – and a 
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary 
differences associated with: 
- right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and 
- decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, 
and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost 
of the related asset; and 

• to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying 
the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings (or other component of equity, as 
appropriate) at that date. This will reflect the opening position, 
without the need for full retrospective application. The Board 
concluded that this transition approach would make the 
amendments easier and less costly to apply than a full 
retrospective approach, while still achieving their objective. 

Annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. 

 
 

 
29 New standards and interpretations 

29.2 Standards effective but not applicable 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations that are not applicable for entity for the 31 December 2023 reporting 
period are listed below: 

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Amendment to IAS 1", is effective from 1 January 2024; 

• International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12); 

• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts. 
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Annexure A: Shareholder information 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
Shareholders beneficially holding in excess of 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company at 31 December 2023 
are as follows: 

 
  31-Dec-23  31-Dec-22 

 Number of 
shares 

% of issued share capital 
Number of 

shares 
% of issued share 

capital 

MTN Group 18 278 626 14.81% 18 277 026 
 

14.80% 

Mion Securities (RF) (Pty) Ltd 10 065 658 8.20% 10 065 658 8.20% 

- MTN Group shareholding change is due to resolution of an over allocation of 1600 MTN 
Zakhele Futhi shares that has been resolved. 

 
The Company’s shareholder analysis at 31 December 2023 was as follows: 

Ownership Range: 
    

 
Number of 

shareholders 
Percentage of 

Shareholders (%) 
Number of 

shares owned 

Percentage of 
issued share capital 

(%) 

1 – 100 shares 29 908 39% 945 2832 2.00% 

101 – 500 shares 33 025 43% 365 112 8.0% 

501 – 1 000 shares 6 208 8% 5 192 438 4.00% 

1 001 – 10 000 shares 7 665 10% 847 418 18.00% 

10 001 – 50 000 shares 621 0% 12 385 970 10. 00% 

More than 50 000 shares 136 0% 71 680 597 58.00% 

 77 563 100.00% 123 416 818 100.00% 

 
 
 

Type of shareholder: 

    

 
Number of 

shares owned 
Percentage of issued 

share capital (%) 
Number of 

shareholders 

Percentage of 
issued share capital 

(%) 

Individuals 65 257 443 53.00% 76 793 99.00% 

Groups 58 159 375 47.00% 770 1.00% 
 123 416 818 100.00% 77 563 100.00% 
     

Public 77 560 99.96% 118 305 737 95.86% 

Non – public 
    

MTN Zakhele Futhi Directors 3 0.004% 5 111 081 4.14% 

 77 563 100.00% 123 416 818 100.00% 
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MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) 
Limited 

Incorporated in the Republic of 

South Africa 

(Registration number: 2016/268837/06) 

JSE share code: MTNZF 

ISIN: ZAE000279402 

LEI: 378900429C4F73B1BE74 

(MTN Zakhele Futhiorthe Company) 

 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 

 
This document is important and requires your immediate attention 

If you are in any doubt about what action you should take, consult your broker, central securities depository participant 
(“CSDP”), legal adviser, banker, financial adviser, accountant or other professional adviser immediately. 

 
Included in this document are: 
• The notice of the annual general meeting (AGM), setting out the resolutions to be proposed at the meeting, together with 

explanatory notes. 
• Guidance notes on how to participate in the AGM electronically which can be found on page 63. There are also guidance notes 

if you wish to attend and vote at the meeting (for which purpose the virtual meeting connection information is included) or to vote 
by proxy which can be found on page 64 of this notice. 

• A proxy form for use by shareholders holding MTN Zakhele Futhi shares in certificated form or recorded in sub-registered 
electronic form in “own name”. 

If you have disposed or otherwise transferred all your shares in MTN Zakhele Futhi, please forward this notice of AGM, proxy form 
and accompanying documents, to the purchaser or transferee of such shares or the broker, banker or other agent through whom the 
sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee. 

 
This document is available in English, Zulu and Sotho on the Company s website at https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za 

/investor-relations under the section titled “Notice to Annual General Meetings” and the annual report is available at 
https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/agm 

 
Shareholders are advised that as the AGM will be held virtually, physical attendance will not be possible, and the AGM will 
only be accessible through electronic communication, as permitted by the Listings Requirements (Listings Requirements) 
of the JSE Limited (JSE) and the provisions of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (Companies Act) and the 
Company’s memorandum of incorporation, as amended (MOI). 

Notice to shareholders 
Notice is hereby given to shareholders of MTN Zakhele Futhi that, the 8th AGM of the Company will be held entirely by way of 
electronic communication as contemplated in section 63(2)(a) of the Companies Act at /https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa on 
Wednesday, 10 April 2024 at 09:00 (South African time), to: (i) consider and, if deemed fit to pass, with or without modification, the 
ordinary and special resolutions set out in this notice of AGM, in the manner required by the Companies Act, as read with the Listings 
Requirements and the MOI: and (ii) deal with such other business as may lawfully be dealt with at the AGM. 

 
The board of directors of the Company (Board) has, in accordance with section 62(3)(a), read with section 59 of the Companies Act, 
set the following record dates for determining the entitlement of shareholders: 
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 South African dates 
Record date to determine the shareholders entitled to 
receive the notice of the AGM 

Friday, 1 March 2024 

Posting date of the notice of AGM Friday, 8 March 2024 
Last date to trade to be eligible to participate in and vote 
at the AGM 

Tuesday, 2 April 2024 

Record date to be eligible to participate in and vote at 
the AGM 

Friday, 5 April 2024 

Forms of proxy to be lodged for administrative 
purposes by no later than 09:00 (South African time) on 

Monday, 8 April 2024 

AGM to be held at 09:00 (South African time) on Wednesday, 10 April 2024 
Results of AGM to be released on or about Thursday, 11 April 2024 

 
 

 

No share certificates may be dematerialised or rematerialised between Wednesday, 3 April 2024 and Friday, 5 April 2024, both 
days inclusive. 

Due to: (i) the shareholder accessibility of an electronic AGM; and (ii) the MOI of MTN Zakhele Futhi allowing the Company to hold 
its general meetings and AGMs (as the case may be) entirely by way of electronic communication as contemplated in section 63(2)(a) 
of the Companies Act, the Board has, in the circumstances, determined that it is prudent and preferable that the upcoming AGM be 
held entirely by way of electronic participation, and not by way of a physical meeting. Accordingly, the AGM will only be accessible 
through electronic communication, as permitted by the JSE and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and the 
MOI. Shareholders will have the opportunity to cast their votes electronically through the iProxy platform prior to the meeting, or send 
in their proxy forms, or to participate and/or vote online, using their smartphone, tablet or computer, subject to the provisions 
applicable to dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration. Please refer to pages 62 to 67 of this notice of AGM for 
details on how to participate in the meeting. The iProxy platform will be available from 09:00 (South African time) on Friday, 15 March 
2024. 

 
Shareholders will be liable for their own network charges in relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the AGM. Any such 
charges will not be for the account of the JSE, the Company or any service provider retained for purposes of hosting and/or facilitating 
the electronic AGM. None of the JSE, the Company or any such service provider can be held accountable in the case of loss of 
network connectivity or other network failure due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, internet bandwidth and/or power outages 
which prevents any such shareholder from participating in and/or voting at the AGM. 

Identification of meeting participants 
Shareholders are further advised that in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person (including duly appointed proxies) 
attending or participating at the AGM must present reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate 
in and vote at the AGM. The Company has retained the services of Ince Proprietary Limited to provide the voting platform and the 
webcast, and to validate (in consultation with the Company and, in particular, the Company’s transfer secretaries, Nedbank Limited 
(acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit), and your CSDP) each shareholder’s entitlement to participate in 
and/or vote at the AGM, before providing you with the necessary means to access the AGM and the associated voting platform. 

Shareholders are advised, and strongly encouraged, to participate in the AGM electronically and, for administrative ease, to make 
use of the online proxy platform as outlined in this notice ahead of the meeting, subject to the provisions applicable to dematerialised 
shareholders without own-name registration. 
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AGENDA 

 
1. Presentation of annual financial statements 

The audited annual financial statements of the Company (as approved by the Board), including the directors’ report, the audit, 
risk and compliance committee report and the external auditors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2023, have been 
distributed to shareholders as required and are hereby presented to shareholders at this AGM as required in terms of section 
61(8)(a) of the Companies Act. 

The complete annual financial statements are set out on pages 19 to 53 of the annual report which is available on the Company’s 
website at www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/investor-relations under the section titled Annual and Interim Financial Statements. 

 
When reading the resolutions below, please refer to the explanatory notes for the AGM resolutions on page 59. 

 
2. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS 

2.1 Ordinary resolution number 1.1 to 1.2 

Re-election of directors retiring by rotation 
Sindi Mabaso-Koyana and Edward Pitsi retire by rotation in terms of clause 24.7 of the MOI, which requires not less than 
one-third of the board of directors to retire at each AGM. Sindi Mabaso-Koyana and Edward Pitsi, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election. 

Ordinary resolution number 1.1: 
Re-election of Sindi Mabaso-Koyana as a director 
Sindi Mabaso-Koyana is an independent non – executive director. The full biography of the director is set out on page 2 of 
the annual report. 

“Resolved that, Sindi Mabaso-Koyana, who retires by rotation and who is eligible and available for re-election, be and is 

hereby re-elected as a director of the Company.” 

Ordinary resolution number 1.2 
Re-election of Edward Pitsi as a director 
Edward Pitsi is an independent non – executive director. The full biography of the director is set out on page 3 of the annual 
report. 

“Resolved that, Edward Pitsi who retires by rotation and who is eligible and available for re-election, be and is hereby re- 

elected as a director of the Company.” 
The percentage of voting rights required for ordinary resolution numbers 1.1 to 1.2 to be adopted is more than 50% 
(fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on each resolution. 

 
2.2 Ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 to 2.3 

Election of Audit and Risk Committee Members 
Ordinary resolution number 2.1: 
“Resolved that, Grant Gelink be and is hereby elected as a member of the audit, risk and compliance committee with effect 

from the conclusion of this meeting in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, until the conclusion of the next AGM.” 

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: 
“Resolved that, subject to the passing of resolution number 1.2, Edward Pitsi be and is hereby elected as a member of the 
audit, risk and compliance committee with effect from the conclusion of this meeting in terms of section 94(2) of the 

Companies Act, until the conclusion of the next AGM.” 

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: 
“Resolved that, Belinda Mapongwana be and is hereby elected as a member of the audit, risk and compliance committee, 
with effect from the conclusion of this meeting in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, until the conclusion of the 

next AGM.” 
The percentage of voting rights required for ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 to 2.3 to be adopted is more than 
50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on each resolution. 

 
2.3 Ordinary resolution number 3 

 
Re-appointment of external auditors 

“Resolved that, SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc. be and is hereby re-appointed as auditor of the Company to 

hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.” 
The percentage of voting rights required for ordinary resolution number 3 to be adopted is more than 50% 
(fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on this resolution. 
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3. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS 
3.1 Special resolution number 1 

Proposed remuneration payable to non-executive directors 
“Resolved that (i) in terms of the Companies Act and clause 26 of the MOI and subject to the terms thereof, the directors’ 
remuneration, with effect from the date of passing of this resolution, be as set out below: 

MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited board 

 Annual retainer fee (ZAR) Attendance fee 
(ZAR) 

(per meeting) 

 Proposed quarterly 
fee 

Total annually Proposed 
attendance fee (per 

meeting) 

Chairperson 37 263 149 052 58 691 

Member 16 292 65 169 32 584 

It is anticipated that the board will meet quarterly. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited audit, risk and compliance committee 

 Annual retainer fee (ZAR) Attendance fee 
(ZAR) 

(per meeting) 

 Proposed quarterly 
fee 

Total annually Proposed 
attendance fee (per 

meeting) 

Chairperson N/A N/A 24 807 

Member N/A N/A 17 744 

It is anticipated that the audit, risk and compliance committee will meet at least twice per year to align with the interim and 
year-end audit results, and only attendance fees will be paid. 

MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited – Special Assignments/Projects per day/Ad hoc work  

Daily/hourly rate (ZAR) unless otherwise stated Proposed 

Special assignment or project per day 14 202 

Ad hoc work, including special assignments and projects and, including telecom meetings 
(hourly rate) 

1 775 

 
(i) In accordance with clause 26.2 of the MOI, the directors may be paid all reasonable expenses in travelling 

(including hotels) to and from meetings of the directors and shareholders, and the members of the Board 
committees shall be entitled to all reasonable expenses in travelling (including hotels) to and from meetings of the 
members of the board committees.” 

 
The proposal set out in special resolution number 1, is in line with the remuneration paid to non-executive directors and 
other non-executive office bearers of other South African companies and this represents an increase of 6.0% on last year’s 
fees. The Board has sanctioned the proposal. 

 
The proposed revised remuneration is considered to be fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Company. 

 
The percentage of voting rights required for special resolution number 1 to be adopted shall be at least 75% (seventy five 
percent) of the votes cast by all shareholders present in person, or represented by proxy, at the AGM. 

 
3.2 Special resolution number 2 
Proposed financial assistance by the company in the form of a loan, a guarantee or the provision of security 

“Resolved that, to the extent required by section 44 of the Companies Act, the Board may, subject to compliance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act and the MOI, authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance by way of 
loan, guarantee, the provision of security, or otherwise to any person (including without limitation to a related or interrelated company 
or corporation, or to a member of a related or inter-related corporation, or to a person related to any such company or corporation, 
or to any person which participates in the continued listing of, and/or facilitation of the custody, trading and/or transfer of, the 
Company’s ordinary shares, whether on the JSE or otherwise, for the purpose of or in connection with the acquisition of ordinary 
shares in the Company, such authority to endure for a period of two years from the date of this resolution”. 
Special resolution number 2 authorises the Board to grant indemnities and/or other financial assistance to any person, including but 
not limited to any entity appointed by the Company as custodian of the dematerialised ordinary shares of the Company and to 
facilitate the trading and/or transfer of the Company's ordinary shares on the JSE (including pursuant to the facilitated trading process 
offered by the Company to the holders of the Company's ordinary shares), the JSE, relevant market participants (including members 
of the JSE, the registered holders of ordinary shares in the Company, the central securities depository participants and/or relevant 
intermediaries) and other third party service providers, in relation to the ongoing custody, trading and/or transfer of the Company's 
ordinary shares, which may result in the Company providing direct or indirect financial assistance within the meaning of section 44 
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of the Companies Act, in connection with the acquisition of ordinary shares in the Company.

The above resolution authorises the Board to grant such financial assistance, subject to compliance with the requirements of the 
MOI and the Companies Act.

The percentage of voting rights required for special resolution number 2 to be adopted shall be as a special resolution under the 
Companies Act, 75% of the voting rights exercised on special resolution number 2 by all holders of shares in the Company (all
classes voting).

Operative time of resolutions
Other than expressly provided otherwise, all resolutions will be immediately operative once approved by the requisite majority of 
shareholders.

Voting procedures
Voting at the AGM will be undertaken electronically. An electronic voting service will be available that will enable all eligible 
shareholders who attend to vote at the meeting, subject to the provisions applicable to dematerialised shareholders without own-
name registration. Voting on all resolutions will be conducted by way of a poll. The registrars will identify each shareholder’s individual 
shareholding as at the voting record date for the AGM so that the number of votes that each shareholder has at the meeting will be 
linked to the number of votes which each shareholder will be able to exercise at the meeting. Shareholders who have completed and 
returned forms of proxy, including any proxy completed and returned via the online proxy platform will not need to vote at the meeting. 
The voting process for shareholders who elect to participate electronically is detailed in the online shareholder’s guide on page 62. 
Shareholders are encouraged to participate and use the form of proxy or the online voting service to ensure all shareholders’ votes 
are counted, subject to the provisions applicable to dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration.

Voting and proxies
Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own-name” registration entitled to attend and 
vote at the meeting may appoint one or more individuals as proxies to attend, participate and vote in their stead. A proxy does not 
have to be a shareholder of the Company but must be an individual. The appointment of a proxy will not preclude the shareholder 
who appointed that proxy from attending the AGM and participating and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any such proxy. 
A form of proxy for use at the meeting is attached and must be submitted by all individuals attending as proxies, together with a 
certified copy of the SA ID of the shareholder and the proxy.

The duly completed instrument appointing a proxy and the authority, if any, under which it is signed must be lodged by shareholders 
with the Company’s transfer secretaries, Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit, registration 
number: 1951/000009/06, at 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, Johannesburg, 2193 or by email at email address: ssa-
zakhelefuthi@Nedbank.co.za prior to the commencement of the meeting to be held at 09:00 (South African time) on Wednesday, 10 
April 2024 and for administrative purposes shareholders are requested to lodge all such documents by no later than 09:00 (South 
African time) on Tuesday, 8 April 2024. The name and address details of the transfer secretaries are given on the back of the proxy 
form.

The attention of shareholders is directed to the additional notes contained in the form of proxy included in this notice on page 63. 
The attached form of proxy is provided to shareholders for their convenience. Shareholders are not obliged to use the attached form 
and may appoint a proxy in writing under section 58 of the Companies Act. A summary of the provisions of this section is included 
in the appendix to the notice of AGM.

Dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration must instruct their CSDP, broker or nominee as to how they wish to 
vote. The voting instructions must reach the CSDP, broker or nominee in sufficient time to allow the CSDP, broker or nominee to 
advise the Company or the Company’s transfer secretaries, Nedbank Limited (acting through its Share Scheme Administration 
business unit) of their instructions by no later than 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024, for administrative purposes.

Dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration who wish to attend, participate electronically in and/or vote at the AGM 
are required to first contact and/or instruct their CSDP, broker or nominee to issue them with the necessary letters of representation 
in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the dematerialised shareholder and their CSDP, broker or nominee to do 
so and following the procedure above. For administrative purposes, shareholders are requested to lodge the letters of representation 
with the Company’s registrars by no later than 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024.

By order of the Board

Belinda Mapongwana
Chairperson: Board of directors 

8 March 2024

Business address and registered office
135 Rivonia Road 
Sandown 
Johannesburg 
2193

Transfer secretaries and shareholder communication 
Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration 
business unit
(Registration number: 1951/000009/06) 
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, Johannesburg, 2193
Tel: +27 83 900 6863
Email: ssa-zakhelefuthi@Nedbank.co.za
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Explanatory Notes to the Resolutions Proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting of the Company 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

For any assistance or information, please phone Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit 
on +27 83 900 6863. 

Re-election of directors retiring by rotation at the AGM  ordinary resolution number 1.1 to 1.2 
Clauses 24.7 and 24.8 of the MOI, inter alia, require not less than one-third of the directors (including MTN Group Nominated 
Directors), to retire from office at the conclusion of each AGM and for those directors, being eligible for re-election, to be re-elected 
by shareholders. Sindi Mabaso-Koyana and Edward Pitsi having retired by rotation in terms of the MOI and, being eligible, offers 
themselves for re-election as a director of the Company. Their biographical details are set out on pages 2 to 3. 

 

Election of the audit committee  ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 to 2.3 
Section 94 of the Companies Act, requires, among other things, that at each AGM of a public company the shareholders elect an 
audit committee comprising at least three members who are non-executive directors of the Company. Regulation 42 of the 
Companies Regulations, 2011 requires that, at least one-third of the members of a Company’s audit committee at any particular time 
must have academic qualifications, or experience, in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce, 
industry, public affairs or human resource management. The Board has reviewed the composition of the audit, risk and compliance 
committee against the requirements of the Companies Act and has confirmed that the committee complies with the relevant 
regulatory requirements and that the members have the necessary knowledge, skills and experience to enable the committee to 
perform its duties in terms of these requirements. The Board therefore recommends the election of the members proposed in ordinary 
resolution numbers 2.1 to 2.3. 

 

Re-appointment of external auditors  ordinary resolution number 3 
Section 90(1) of the Companies Act requires a public company to appoint an auditor each year at its AGM. The audit, risk and 
compliance committee considered the independence of the external auditors during the year and assessed the skills, reporting and 
overall performance of SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc. (as external auditors) and has satisfied itself that the external 
auditors comply with the requirements of section 90(2) and 90(3) of the Companies Act and section 22 of the Listings Requirements, 
and accordingly recommends their reappointment as the Company’s external auditors. 

 

Remuneration payable to directors  special resolution number 1 
In terms of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, the Company may remunerate its directors for their services as directors 
only in accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders within the previous two years. In terms of clause 26.1 of 
the MOI, the directors are entitled to such remuneration as the shareholders of the Company in general meeting may from time to 
time determine, but subject to the limits on administration costs applicable to the Company under clause 3 of Annexe A to the MOI, 
and the Transaction Documents (as defined in the MOI). In addition, in terms of clause 26.2 of the MOI, the directors shall be paid 
all reasonable expenses in travelling (including hotels) to and from meetings of the directors and shareholders, and the members of 
the board committees shall be entitled to all reasonable expenses in travelling (including hotels) to and from meetings of the members 
of the board committees. 

Special resolution number 1 is proposed in order to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act and the MOI. The rates 
referred to in this special resolution number 1 have been selected to ensure that the remuneration of directors remains competitive 
in order to enable the Company to retain and attract persons of the calibre, appropriate capabilities, skills and experience required 
in order to make meaningful contributions to the Company. 

 
Proposed financial assistance by the Company in the form of a loan, a guarantee or the provision of security- special 
resolution number 2 

 
In relation to the proposed replacement of Nedgroup Private Wealth Stockbrokers Proprietary Limited (NPW) as the trading and 
custody entity for the holders of the Company's ordinary shares (including such shares held by shareholders which elect to use the 
facilitated trading process which was established by the Company at the time of the listing of the Company's ordinary shares on the 
JSE during November 2019) and in the context of such ongoing custody arrangements and facilitated trading and/or transfer 
processes, the Company will be required to pay fees and costs and grant indemnities and other financial assistance to various 
parties, including but not limited to such replacement service provider, the JSE, relevant market participants (including members of 
the JSE, the registered holders of ordinary shares in the Company, the central securities depository participants and/or relevant 
intermediaries) and other third party service providers, which may result in the Company providing financial assistance in connection 
with the acquisition of ordinary shares in the Company within the meaning of section 44 of the Companies Act. 

 
Special resolution number 2 is to authorise the Board to grant such financial assistance, subject to compliance with the requirements 
of the MOI and the Companies Act. 

Section 44 of the Companies Act provides, among other things, that such direct or indirect financial assistance must be provided 
only pursuant to a special resolution of shareholders, adopted within the previous two years, which approved such financial 
assistance either for the specific recipient or generally for a category of potential recipients and the specific recipient falls within that 
category and the board must be satisfied that (i) immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company would satisfy the 
solvency and liquidity test provided for in section 4 of the Companies Act, and (ii) the terms under which the financial assistance is 
proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the Company 
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Appendix to the Notice of the Annual General Meeting 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

Important notes about the AGM 

Date and time 

The meeting will be held virtually on Wednesday, 10 April 2024 at https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa and will begin promptly at 
09:00 (South African time). 

 
Shareholders can attend the AGM by accessing the online facility and will need to register prior to the meeting, subject to the 
provisions applicable to dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration. Details on how to attend through electronic 
means can be found on page 62 of this notice. 

 
Translation services 
Kindly note that the meeting will be translated into Zulu and Sotho. This document will be available in Zulu and Sotho on the 
Company’s website at https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/investor-relations and under the section titled “Notice to Annual General 
Meetings” from 15 March 2024. 

Enquiries 
Any shareholder having difficulties or queries in regard to the AGM or the above are invited to contact Nedbank Limited, acting 
through its Share Scheme Administration business unit, on +27 83 900 6863. Calls will be monitored for quality control purposes. 

 
The results of the AGM will be posted on the Securities Exchange News Services (SENS) as soon as is practicable after the AGM. 
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Summary of applicable rights established in 
section 58 of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, 
as amended 

For purposes of this summary, the term “shareholder” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in section 57(1) of the 
Companies Act. 

1. At any time, a shareholder of a company is entitled to appoint any individual, including an individual who is not a 
shareholder of that company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of the 
shareholder. 

2. A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the relevant shareholder. 
3. Except to the extent that the memorandum of incorporation of a company provides otherwise – 

3.1 a shareholder of the relevant company may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies, and may appoint 
more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different securities held by such shareholder; and 

3.2 a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must be delivered to the relevant company, or to any other person on 
behalf of the relevant company, before the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders 
meeting. 

4. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy – 
4.1 the appointment of the proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed that 

proxy chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder of the relevant company; 
and 

4.2 should the instrument used to appoint a proxy be revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by 
cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the 
revocation instrument to the proxy and the relevant company. 

5. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on 
behalf of the relevant shareholder as of the later of the date – 
5.1 stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or 
5.2 upon which the revocation instrument is delivered to the proxy and the relevant company as required in section 

58(4)(c)(ii) of the Companies Act. 
6. Should the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies have been delivered to the relevant company, as long as that 

appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the relevant company’s memorandum 
of incorporation to be delivered by such company to the shareholder must be delivered by such company to – 
6.1 the shareholder, or 
6.2 the proxy or proxies if the shareholder has in writing directed the relevant company to do so and has paid any 

reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so. 
7. A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the relevant shareholder without direction, 

except to the extent that the memorandum of incorporation of the relevant company or the instrument appointing the 
proxy provide otherwise. 

8. If a company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by such company as a proxy, 
or supplies a form of instrument for appointing a proxy – 
8.1 such invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled to receive notice of the meeting at which the 

proxy is intended to be exercised; 
8.2 the company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable; and 
8.3 the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the relevant meeting at which it was intended to be used, 

unless revoked as contemplated in section 58(5) of the Companies Act. 
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How to participate in the Annual General 
Meeting 

Certificated and dematerialised own-name registered shareholders may follow the process outlined below. 
 

Dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration who wish to attend, participate electronically in and/or vote at the 
AGM are required to first contact and/or instruct their CSDP, broker or nominee to issue them with the necessary letters of 
representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the dematerialised shareholder and their CSDP, 
broker or nominee to do so before accessing the online facility and following the procedure below. For administrative 
convenience, shareholders are requested to lodge the letters of representation with the Company’s registrars by no later than 
09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024. 

Dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration who do not wish to attend the meeting must instruct their CSDP, 
broker or nominee as to how they wish to vote. The voting instructions must reach the CSDP, broker or nominee in sufficient 
time to allow the CSDP, broker or nominee to advise the Company or the Company’s transfer secretaries, Nedbank Limited 
(acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit) of their instructions by no later than 09:00 (South African time) 
on Monday, 8 April 2024, for administrative purposes. Dematerialised shareholders without own-name registration who do 
not wish to attend the AGM must not complete the Form of Proxy. 
We encourage shareholders to make use of the iProxy service to cast their votes prior to the meeting, or to participate in 
and/vote during the online meeting using their smartphone, tablet or computer. 

 
Shareholders who are unable to attend the AGM can, through the online facility, prior to the commencement of the meeting, 
vote on the resolutions set out on page 63 and page 64 by: 
• completing and returning the Form of Proxy attached to this notice on page 63 and page 64; or 
• appointing a proxy to attend in their stead; or 
• casting their votes electronically through the iProxy platform or USSD platform. 

Shareholders are referred below for details on how to register for the AGM and submit their Form of Proxy. 

Submit their Form of Proxy by using the easy-to-operate online facility to appoint a proxy to vote at the 
AGM on their behalf. 

 
AGM 

Click /https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa 

The online guide is available to download and may be accessed at 

https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/home/agm from Monday, 8 March 2024 

The online facility will be available from 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 15 March 2024; or 

Complete the Form of Proxy using their mobile device by dialling **t 120*0130# o appoint a proxy to 
attend the AGM 

The USSD guide is available to download and may be accessed at 

https://www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za/home/agm from Monday, 3 April 2023 

The USSD facility will be available from 09:00 (South African time) on, Monday, 15 March 2024; or 

Complete the Forms of Proxy that are contained in the Notice of AGM 

These forms appear on page 63 to page 65 of the Notice of AGM 

document 

 
 
 

Shareholders can also attend the AGM by accessing the online facility and will need to log on at 
https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa using their SA ID number and the One Time Pin that has been provided to them. 

To be completed by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with ‘own- name’ registration only. 
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MTN Zakhele Futhi 

(RF) Limited 
Incorporated in the Republic of 

South Africa 

(Registration number: 
2016/268837/06) 

JSE share code: MTNZF 

ISIN: ZAE000279402 

LEI: 378900429C4F73B1BE74 

(MTN Zakhele Futhi or the Company) 
 

 
FORM OF PROXY 

 

For use at the annual general meeting (AGM) to be held virtually at https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa at 09:00 
(South African time) on Wednesday, 10 April 2024. For assistance in completing the proxy form, please contact 
Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit on +27 83 900 6863. A shareholder 
(including certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with ‘own- name’ registration) entitled to attend and 
vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend, vote and speak in his/her/its stead at the AGM. A proxy need 
not be a shareholder of the Company but must be an individual. 

 
I/We 

 

 
ID number/registration number: of 

 

 
 being a shareholder/shareholders of the above-mentioned Company do hereby appoint failing him/her or failing him/her  

 the chairperson of the Company or failing him/her the chairperson of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on  
my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held virtually at https://mtnzakhelefuthi.vagm.africa on Wednesday, 10 
April 2024 at 09:00 (South African time) for the purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment or postponement thereof and to vote for 
and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the shares in the issued share capital of the 
Company registered in my/our name as follows: 

 

 For** Against* Abstain* 

Ordinary resolutions    

Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Re-election of – Sindi Mabaso-Koyana as a director    

Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Re-election of Edward Pitsi as a director    

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Election of Grant Gelink as a member of the audit, risk and 
compliance committee 

   

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Election of Edward Pitsi as a member of the audit, risk and 
compliance committee 

   

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Election of Belinda Mapongwana as a member of the audit, risk 
and compliance committee 

   

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-appointment of external auditors    

Special resolutions    

Special resolution number 1: Proposed remuneration payable to non-executive directors    

Special resolution number 2: Proposed financial assistance by a company in the form of a loan, 
a guarantee or the provision of security 
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**Mark with an X whichever is applicable. Unless otherwise directed, the proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit in 
respect of the shareholder’s total holding. The proxy may also vote or abstain in respect of any other business proposed 
at the meeting as he/she thinks fit. 

 
 
 

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, 
speak and to vote in his/her stead. The proxy so appointed need not also be a shareholder but must be an 
individual. 

 
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof. 

 
 

Signed at on 2024 

Full name(s)  (in block letters) 

Signature(s) 

Address 

Assisted by (guardian) date  

If signing in a representative capacity, see notes to proxy on the reverse side hereof. 
 

Please note that a proxy/ies attending the meeting on behalf of a registered shareholder will not be entitled to vote on 
behalf of the shareholder unless they are accompanied by this duly completed form. 
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Notes to form of proxy 

1. Only shareholders who are registered in the register, or in the sub-register of the Company under their ‘own-name’ on the 
relevant record date for the meeting may complete a proxy form or alternatively attend the meeting. Beneficial owners who 
are not the registered holder and who wish to attend the meeting in person may do so by requesting the registered holder, 
being their Central Security Depository Participant (CSDP), broker or nominee, to issue them with a letter of 
representation in terms of the custody agreements entered into with the registered holder. Letters of representation must 
be lodged with the Company’s registrars by no later than09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024. 

2. Beneficial owners who are not the registered holder and who do not wish to attend the meeting in person must provide 
the registered holder, being the CSDP, broker or nominee, with their voting instructions. The voting instructions must 
reach the registered holder in sufficient time to allow the registered holder to advise the Company or the Company’s 
registrar of their instructions by no later than 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024 for administrative 
convenience. 

3. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of his/her/its choice in the space/s 
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the general meeting”, but any such deletion or insertion must be 
initialled by the shareholder. Any insertion or deletion not complying with the foregoing will be declared not to have been 
validly effected. The person whose name stands rst on the proxy form and who is present at the general meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. In the event that no names are indicated, the proxy 
shall be exercised by the chairman of the AGM. 

4. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum 
number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy 
to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she/it deems t in respect of the entire shareholder’s 
votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder 
or by his/her/its proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the 
maximum number of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy. The proxy may also vote or abstain in 
respect of any other business proposed at the meeting as he/she/it thinks t. 

5. The proxy shall (unless this sentence is struck out and countersigned) have the authority to vote, as he/she deems t, on 
any other resolution which may validly be proposed at the meeting, including in respect of any proposed amendment to 
the above resolutions. If the aforegoing sentence is struck out, the proxy shall be deemed to be instructed to vote against 
any such proposed additional resolution and/or proposed amendment to an existing resolution as proposed in the notice 
to which this form is attached. 

6. To be effective, completed proxy forms and the authority, if any, under which it is signed must be lodged at the Company’s 
South African transfer secretaries at the address, fax number or email address stipulated below prior to the time appointed 
for the holding of the meeting and shareholders are requested to lodge all such documents by no later than09:00 (South 
African time) on Monday, 8 April 2024. 

7. The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and 
speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof. 

8. The chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed and/or received other than in 
compliance with these notes. 

9. Any alteration to this proxy form, other than a deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory. 
10. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative or other legal 

capacity must be attached to this proxy form, unless previously recorded by the Company or waived by the chairperson 
of the AGM. 

11. Where there are joint holders of shares: 
11.1 any one holder may sign the proxy form; and 
11.2 the vote of the senior shareholder (for which purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of 

the shareholders appear in the Company’s register) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be 
accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholders. 

12. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or legal guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries. 

13. A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, to another person. 

Office of the transfer secretaries 

Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration 
business unit Registration number: 1951/000009/06) 

135 Rivonia Road 

Sandton, 2196 
 
 

Tel: +27 83 900 6863 
 

E-mail: ssa-zakhelefuthi@Nedbank.co.za 
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Annexure 1A: Administration 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
 
 

 

ADMINISTRATION 
 
 

 
Company information 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number: 2016/268837/06) 

JSE share code: MTNZF ISIN: 
ZAE000279402 

LEI: 378900429C4F73B1BE74 
 

 

Postal address 
PO Box 1144 

Johannesburg 2000 
 

 

Registered address 
135 Rivonia Road 

Sandown, 2196 Johannesburg 
 

 

Board of directors 
BL Mapongwana (independent non-executive chairperson) 

SN Mabaso-Koyana (non-executive director) 

GG Gelink (independent non-executive director) 

ET Pitsi (independent non-executive director) 

 

Office of the transfer secretaries 
Nedbank Limited, acting through its Share Scheme Administration business unit 

(Registration number: 1951/000009/06) 

135 Rivonia Road 

Sandton, 2196 

Tel: +27 83 900 6863 

Email: ssa-zakhelefuthi@Nedbank.co.za 
 
 

Company Sponsor 
Tamela Holdings Proprietary Limited 

Ground Floor, Golden Oak House 

Ballyoaks Office Park, 

35 Ballyclare Drive 

Bryanston,2021 
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Annexure 1A: Administration 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

Company secretary 
Nedbank Limited, acting through its Group Secretariat 

135 Rivonia Road 

Sandown 

Johannesburg, 2196 

 

Auditors 
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc. 20 Morris Street East 

Woodmead, 2191 

PO Box 2939, Saxonwold, 2132 
 

 

Attorneys 
Webber Wentzel 

90 Rivonia Road, Sandton, Johannesburg, 2196 

PO Box 61771, Marshalltown, 2107 
 

 

www.mtnzakhelefuthi.co.za 


